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ABSTRACT
THE IMPACT OF STRUCTURAL CONSTRAINTS ON THE QUALITY OF LIFE

FOR AFRICAN AMERICAN MALES IN LIMA, OHIO
A COMMUNITY HISTORY

By

Jill Rowe-Adjibogoun

African American males are simultaneously loved, hated, and feared in American
culture. Historically, they have been depicted in the mainstream media as violent agents
of destruction, and at the same time, they have been admired and idolized for their
athletic ability and their creativity as entertainers, most recently as the standard bearers of
Hip Hop culture, rap music, and conspicuous consumption. This historical and
ethnographic study focuses on the lives and identities of African American males in
Lima, Ohio. It utilizes a practice approach and an historical methodology to explore the
changing identities of African American males and the structural constraints that have
contributed to the normalization of violence in this often isolated segment of society.

The intent is to shed light on major historical events and structural features that
have been instrumental in shaping their present day identities. The telling of a local
history, through the voices of those who lived through it, is a feature of ethnographic
research that validates the lived experiences of the actors themselves and illustrates the
social construction of their perspectives on the past. The ethnographic description of
local community life and people’s experiences and outlooks further reveals the impact of

changing structural forces related to social class, (de)industrialization, environmental







changes, the civil rights movement, the school system, familial relationships, community
role models, gang affiliation, popular rap artists, and language use. These structural and
cultural elements have fused, creating an externalized self where toughness is equated
with manhood and an internalized self where suffering is a normalized part of life. In
many ways, Lima serves as a microcosm of life for some African American males in
other places in the country and as a mirror of historical events that occurred concurrently

in other Midwestern towns and cities.
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Introduction

It doesn’t amaze me that we ’'re crazy—it amazes me that we 're sane.
Na’im Akbar'

This dissertation is an examination of organizational dynamics and histori
forces that have constructed and impacted the African American community in Lir
Ohio. It is primarily concerned with how structural constraints have contributed to
contemporary identity formation of African American males (AAM)? living in the ci
A structural constraint refers to institutions, public policies, authority figures and ci
organizations that mold certain characteristics. They include school systems, put
policies, prison systems, employment practices, housing availability and quality, hiri
strategies, churches, and public and private individuals. Their structure plays a vital r
in the vibrant interplay of a community. Regarding the word structure, a discussion
the meaning implied is warranted.

Structure is the domain that anthropologists operate in as they engage in any ty
of fieldwork. The term refers to the internal and external factors that makeup
individual’s environment. Structural constraints largely deal with institutions that are
constant interaction with one another. They determine what individuals are unable &
able to do in a given society. As such, structural elements affect each person’s life i

different way. As evidenced in the literature, some of these constraints are out of

! Na’im Akbar is a noted psychologist who has written a number of books on the psychology of African
American males. The quote is from a talk given at Michigan State University on February 19, 2003
entitled, “African American Centered Approaches in Psychology.”

2 The term African American males (AAM) will be used to describe the persons of interest. The use of t
word males instead of men shows the liminality of their existence in the population in question in which
they are definitely not boys, at the same time they are not men—rather they are somewhere in the middl
Unfortunately, there are no formal rites of passage for African Americans in the United States (U.S.) tha
symbolize the completion of the transformation from boyhood to manhood.



individual’s control (Massey and Denton 1993, Essed 1991), occur through changes in
public policy (Wilson 1996, 1987), evolve over time (Farley et al 2000, Scott 1997,
Sugrue 1996) or are institutionalized by those in authority (Bourdieu and Passeron 1977,
Foucault 1977, Willis 1977, lllich 1976). Further, structural constraints are often quite
difficult for an individual to overthrow (Sawicki 1991, Foucault 1980).

The theoretical stance employed is practice theory, which focuses on agents,
systems, social relations, and domination and resistance strategies. Practice approaches
assert the primacy of human action and interaction, or what people are actually doing,
over what the rules state should be done. They presume that people strategize and make
choices rather than enact or react to scripted dictums. Moreover, it assumes that choices
have political implications, though people are not always aware of them.

The theory largely focuses on resistance to dominant culture by the agents
themselves (Devine 1996). An examination of cultural materials, specifically qualitative
interviews and lyrics to the music listened to by these particular AAM, reveals that
culture is both a structuring and transforming process. Furthermore, this study
demonstrates the use of institutionalized structures to both contain and restrain the actors.
It illustrates how contemporary AAM occasionally view rules and regulations as contrary
to their own interests and either resist them openly or conform to them under pressure
from those in authority. This methodology provides examples of the ways human beings
dialectically create, resist, and accommodate themselves to prevailing ideologies and
shows that there is an active nature of both domination and resistance among AAM living

in the Lima area.






Feminist theorists (di Leonardo 1998, Abu-Lughod 1993, Sawicki 1991, Hill
Collins 1990, hooks 1990, Lock and Scheper-Hughes 1990, Ortner 1984) have critiqued
the earlier work of scholars® of both post structural and practice theory as being sterile
and devoid of the people involved. The aim of this study is to provide those missing
voices through the collective memory of the actors themselves. Analysis of the
contemporary situation steps beyond the literature that focuses on African Americans as
people acted upon (Ferguson 2000, Fine and Weis 1998, MacLeod 1995, Kotolowitz
1991) by presenting their agency in response to historical forces.

The choice of Lima as a field site is significant because I believe that it is the
social scientist’s moral obligation to conduct research in a community to which he or she
has a sense of commitment. Because I am a former resident of the city, this ethnography
is an insider’s view of the African American community there which is a critical feature
due to the difficulty involved in writing about a population that has been deemed bad by
the larger society. People who have been demonized in a particular social context are
often much more complicated than one is led to believe. Further, these demonized selves
belong to a larger more complex community where they do not exist as one-dimensional
entities but are multi-dimensional. As such, the formation of their external and internal
selves is impacted by a number of sources both from within and outside of the larger
structure of the society. Their true sense of self is ever changing, depending on their
individual habitus, and the historical, political, and social events and figures that impact
their lives.

Because of my belief that anthropology is the study of history in the present,

emphasis is placed on the collective memories of people living in Lima, both currently

3 I am referring specifically to the previous work of Foucault (1977) and Bourdieu (1977) here.






and in the past. According to Climo (2002), shared memories are important to
anthropological research because they inform human societies. He goes on to say that the
significance of the language used in the construction of these collective accounts is that it
is often representative of both the resistance of the dominated to the larger power
structure and the effectiveness of the powers of domination on identity formation.
Frequently, it is the only type of resistance available to those who do not maintain
powerful positions in society and is an example of an everyday form of resistance (Scott
1985).

Shared memories are material examples of the integration of Appalachian dialect
in the African American speaking patterns characteristic of the area and can be attributed
to the historical mixing of the two cultures (Hartigan 1999, Feather 1998, Wray and
Newitz 1997). Official records indicate that European Americans from Appalachia
arrived at the same time that African Americans did (Hirisimaki 1986, Hipp 1971).
Evidence of this connection is witnessed both in contemporary and historical speaking
patterns of various community members. The use of language structures also points to
the role of social isolation and the affects of segregation on the development of collective
identities (Massey and Denton 1993).

This historical journey is divided up chronologically, and informants’ responses
have not been edited to reflect the speaking patterns of the language of wider
communication (Smitherman 2000). The historical significance of this feature illustrates

changes in the structure, metaphors, and street dialect of the language in use in Lima’s

* Appalachian dialect is a feature of the speaking patterns evidenced by the choice of verb tense utilized by
the local population. Examples include the use of come instead of came, and seen instead of saw. Itisa
dialectic feature of community members who hale from the upper south, specifically, Tennessce, Georgia,
Virginia, West Virginia, and Kentucky. People from these areas of the south came to Lima during the
migrations of the 1830s (Selfridge 1981, McGee 1980).




African American community. Language studies conducted by Rickford and Rickford
(2000) suggest that the use of African American Vernacular English (AAVE) has shifted
further away from Standard American English (SAE) on a national level. They explain
that it is an indication of the effects of the ever-increasing levels of social isolation of
economically disadvantaged members of the African American community. Their
analysis concludes that many African American children who live in hypersegregated
environments are becoming either unwilling or unable to shift to SAE when the social or
educational situation requires it.

Another critical element in the shaping of the collective identity of African
Americans is the word used to distinguish them for the time period in question.
Historically, they have been identified by a variety of derogatory and non-derogatory
terms. Often, the choice of the appropriate categorical descriptor was imposed on them
by the larger structure with little or no input from the people themselves. Some common
differentiations include Negro, Nigger, Coon, Jungle Bunny, Colored, Black, Monkey,
Afro-American, and African American. The changes in the term used to identify them
had a profound effect on how African Americans were viewed by others, how they
conceived of themselves, and their connection to the rest of the world. Informants’ word
choices will not be altered and each period under discussion will adhere to the name the
people themselves utilized during that time.

To gain a firm grasp of the historical factors that influenced the lives of African
Americans living in Lima, I began to look through the archives at the library in the Allen
County Museum. During this investigation it was noted that the history of African

Americans in that city was reduced to two black boxes in a back room on a top shelf.



Investigation into the boxes revealed a series of newspaper articles, unpublished papers,
historical studies, census records and other important primary source materials. After
many weeks of sorting through the documents, I began to realize that in order to
understand the contemporary identities of AAM in Lima; I must first understand the
African American history of the town. As this level of inquiry progressed, various
community stakeholders® came forward to share their individual family histories, family
documents (largely in the form of family bibles, scraps of paper with important events
written on them, and family photos), old newspaper accounts of events that had taken
place in Lima, and obituaries from the local newspaper. I was also given a copy of an
historical documentary, funded by the Ohio Arts Commission, which featured local actors
(See Appendix E).

As I reviewed the documents, a range of topics began to surface. The most
prevalent of which included localized accounts involving churches, businesses and
industries, schools, area politics, segregation, housing and employment practices. The
recurrent themes that emerged included: the growth and decline of area industries and
their impact on the local population, the role of black churches, the impact and
consequences of segregation, economic inequalities, the types of employment available to
African Americans living in the city, the quality of housing and schools, the role of
politics, the role of structural constraints, public policies, terrorism, discrimination by law
enforcement and public school officials, and under-representation in local politics.
Topics and themes were enriched by the agency of the African American citizenry who

had either lived through or participated in the events discussed. The spirit of resistance to

* Community stakeholders are those members of the population who have a vested interest in what is
written about their lives. Their input was vital in providing the voices of the people being discussed in the
narrative.



the hegemonic infrastructure provided rich insight into the process of reacting both to and
against historical forces. Finally, the historical events that occurred in Lima, though
specific to that city, are a mirror of events that concurrently took place in a number of
midwestern cities. A brief historical sketch of localized events follows.

The African American presence in Lima began in 1830, with the settlement of
pioneers in what would later become Allen County. They migrated from states that
comprised the Upper South, specifically Kentucky, Tennessee, Virginia, West Virginia,
and North and South Carolina, as freed, manumitted—meaning they brought their
freedom, or runaway slaves (McGee 1980). Selfridge (1981) indicates that many of the
early African American migrants came with skills, land that had been willed to them by
their former slave owners, and money to purchase real estate in the area. Frazier (1957)
suggests that the Upper South consisted of states where the plantation system of
agriculture did not flourish allowing some African Americans to hire their time out and
eventually buy their freedom, a process that is also called manumission. It supplied both
the income needed to buy farmland and developed their skills as mechanics and skilled
artisans (Frazier 1957). Lastly, historical documentation indicates that they were also
active in early politics of the time (Hipp 1971, McGown 1921).

Settlement into the area was a time of great transition for the local African
American citizenry. Further, many of them were able to purchase land and establish a
better life for their families. An interruption of their quest occurred when some European
Americans who, in response to their fear of economic competition from the new settlers,

enforced structural constraints (in the form of public ordinances and terroristic actions)






that hindered their settlement in the area. The never ceasing disputes between the two
groups led many African Americans to resettle in the city of Lima (McGee 1980).

As African Americans moved into Lima they were largely segregated in the
Westend of town and limited to employment in positions where they were subservient to
the local European American population. Their main occupations were in the capacity of
servants, housekeepers, laborers, barbers, maids, and porters (Selfridge 1981).
Additionally, they made their life in Lima under the watchful eye of a faction of the Klu
Klux Klan (KKK), called the “Black Knights” (McGown 1921).

In the 1930s, Lima’s African American community, along with the rest of the
nation, experienced the Great Depression. Jobs were scarce for area European Americans
and even more scarce for African Americans. Nevertheless, they were able to weather
the storm and continued their segregated life in the Westend of town. The period
signaled a national shift in African American political affiliations from alliance with the
Republican Party or the party of Lincoln (Schweninger 1978) to the Democratic Party or
the party of Roosevelt (Frazier 1957).

The 1940s were marked by a new migration of African Americans that was
spearheaded by the Ohio Steel Foundry (Davis 1978). They were recruited by the steel
foundry for laborer’s positions left vacant by European Americans who were serving in
World War II (WWII) and to fill the demands on the industry to supply the war’s need of
steel products. The southern states of the Mississippi Delta—Mississippi, Louisiana,
Arkansas, Alabama, and Georgia—were representative of the home states of this stream
of migrants (Gale 1978). As such, they came to the area with a shared history of a

segregated life as sharecroppers, controlled and enforced by the violent racial structure of






southern white hegemony (Hale 1998). Housing for the new arrivals was limited to a
group of trailer parks owned by Ohio Steel in the Southend of town. Thusly, their lives
can be described as a type of Northern sharecropping in which they lived in homes
provided by the steel foundry, worked in the steel foundry, were transported to and from
work and shopping by busses supplied by the steel foundry, and shopped in stores owned
by the steel foundry (Gale 1978). The circular nature of the process validates the
sentiment of popular blues music of the period in which musicians proclaimed, “I owe
my soul to the company store” (Titon 1994).

Lastly, the new group of migrants was viewed as a threat to the identity of the
first group of African Americans that were the servant class and confined to the Westend
of town. A division between the two, largely based on perceived differences in social
class, quickly developed. The conflict resulted in an antagonistic divide involving the
inhabitants of the Westend and the Southend that continues today.

The 1950s witnessed the development of social and political organizations among
the local African American’s. Two significant institutions that surfaced were the
National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP), and the
Bradfield Center. Local citizens began to channel their activism and effectively
challenged the segregated system in place. Sparks of unity between African Americans
living in the Westend and Southend were beginning. Unity was further developed with
the guidance of prominent African American church figures, i.e. charismatic ministers

and church mothers.®

® The term church mothers is culturally specific and refers to African American women with strong
alliances to the black church. They function in the administrative and financial arm of the church and have
a stake in determining church policy and procedures.



In the late 1960s and early 1970s, African Americans in Lima experienced the
Civil Rights and Black Power Movements that swept the country (Gales 1978). The
fundamental point of these organizations was that there was a problem with the system,
specifically, that it was not inclusive of all Americans. As such, they represented a
struggle by the agents themselves to change the system.

During this time, there was a displacement in the language from Negro to Black
that had a constitutive effect on the black social experience and ensuing identity. The
shift occurred as African Americans began to question the meaning of the term used to
describe them. According to Taylor Gibbs (1988), Negro designated the inferiority and
pathology of African Americans, which resulted in stereotypic treatment, while Black
symbolized African American achievement of race consciousness and unity. The
sentiment was enhanced by a marked progression toward self-improvement (Harper
1996).

Malcolm X (1970) saw the changes in the terms used to describe African
Americans in a different way. Negro, according to X, denoted subservience to the white
power structure. Nigger was a term that referred to predictable Blacks that harbored
racial stereotypes of what it meant to be black in the white mind. Black was an identity
marker that provoked inclusiveness and unity and broadened the black experience to
include all nonwhites in the world. He allocated the systematic use of the word by people
of color worldwide and viewed this as the catalyst needed to begin to transform the entire
system.

The change in language and shifting collective identity was evidenced in Lima by

the formation of proactive black churches, a branch of the Black Panther Party, and

10



student protests in Lima area schools. These acts led to the most active period of mass
rebellion and unrest in the area. Additionally, antagonistic relations between the Lima
Police Force and local area AAM was solidified and continues to plague the city.

The 1970s were a period of prosperity for many local African Americans (Davis
1978). The intense work of the earlier civil and political organizations resulted in an
increase in their employ in area industries. One predominant characteristic of the
citizenry was a blue-collar mentality.” Lifetime employment in the manufacturing sector
became a goal of many of the city’s inhabitants. The socioeconomic structure
experienced dramatic changes as workers began to acquire real estate, automobiles, and
middle class lifestyles. Roles of local area churches began to shift from that of political
leadership to socialization. New leadership flourished with the creation of a new art form
that was labeled rap music and AAM were primarily the innovators of the genre. Early
practitioners of the art form provided a creative outlet for the region’s youth.

During the 1980s, Lima endured the strain of “Reaganomics” and the ensuing
recession that earmarked that administration. Many of the local factories began a process
of downsizing, which resulted in a loss of employment for area citizens. There was an
exodus of some of the college educated and politically aware class who left in the pursuit
of viable economic opportunities. At the same time, a string of legislative policies were
enacted by the Reagan administration that funded the erection of correctional institutions
(Kitwana 2002). The city’s infrastructure followed the trend and converted the mental

hospital into a correctional facility. The resulting prison system provided over one

7 Blue collar mentality, in Marxist terms, refers to the ideologies of the class of industrial wage earners
who, lacking either capital or production means, must earn a living by selling their labor (Harvey 1990). It
was characterized by a 40 hour work week and physical and manual labor. Moreover, it offers little
incentive towards future orientation, or pursuance of individual business ownership. As such, it is a crucial
element of capitalistic enterprises.

11



thousand jobs, which boosted the economy. Introduction of this means of production
affected community race relations as European Americans predominantly held the prison
jobs and African Americans, primarily males, surfaced as the inmates. High
incarceration rates of AAM in local facilities shaped their view of the world and
themselves. Rap music was reflective of their shifting identities as some of it began to
focus on the significance of institutionalization in the African American community.

In the 1990s, Lima became home to three correctional facilities by adding a
privatized prison to the registry. Simultaneously, there was a sharp decrease in funding
for recreational activities for youth. Correctional experiences continued to color life for
local AAM and connections to prominent gangs were established through involvement
with the system. Gang membership was associated in familial kinship terms and became
a rite of passage for some AAM in the area. This was especially true for those among
them who had never been included in the formal economy and took advantage of the
informal economy by utilizing the most profitable resources, primarily the sale and use of
drugs and firearms, to finance their operations. Due to an increasing availability, these
two vices flourished in the local underground economy. The combination of social
isolation, mass incarceration, disenfranchisement, and lack of recreational outlets resulted
in an atmosphere that fostered gang involvement, firearms, drugs, and the normalization
of incarceration for some AAM. Popular rap music reflected the internalization of these
norms and artists began to surface as the voice and leadership of area youth. Though
African American churches were respected and continued to maintain their distinction as
one of the oldest institutions in the community, they lost their appeal to many youth,

which limited their voice and effectiveness in their former leadership role.







Regarding the contemporary situation, currently, there are 40, 081 citizens in the
Lima area (Federal Census 2000). Of that number, European Americans make up two-
thirds (27,776) and African Americans make up one-third (10,614) of the citizenry
(Federal Census 2000). Single family homes continue to dominate the community
landscape, however, this characteristic has been impacted by a recent trend in which
massive foreclosures of locally owned properties has replaced individual ownership (See
Table 13). Some local industries include the following: a division of Ford Motor
Company that specializes in making engines for light trucks, Premcor, which produces
petroleum products, and a division of Proctor and Gamble that produces Downy, a brand
of liquid laundry detergent (See Table 6). Main employers in the city include: St. Rita’s
Medical Center, Lima Memorial Hospital, Ford Motor Company, Allen County, Premcor,
Lima Schools, and Lima Correctional Institute (See Table 9).

Ravages of deindustrialization are evident in the unemployment figures (See
Table 5) and over abundance of vacant buildings that clutter the panorama. Business
growth is dominated by service-oriented industries. Examples include check cashing
stores, Rent-A-Centers, pawnshops, fast food restaurants, Super Goodwill Stores,
fingernail shops, cell phone shops, and large low quality retail clothing and houseware
chains. The absence of parks, recreational facilities, banks, bookstores, libraries, and
large retail grocery outlets is starkly evident. Signs of the beginnings of a limited
community renaissance are witnessed by the construction of a new senior high school and
the county commissioner’s attempts to revitalize the downtown area. Like many cities in

the nation, Lima has experienced economic flight from the inner city; those with the
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financial means have moved to suburbia, while the economically disadvantaged have
remained in the deteriorating metropolitan area.

In summary, this dissertation is an historical journey into the African American
community in Lima, Ohio. The intent of this methodology is to shed light on the major
historical events and structural features that have aided in the social construction of the
identity of AAM in the city today. Evidence will be given that suggests that they were
shaped and determined by a number of factors, including the school system, the prison
System, popular rap artists and music, community role models, economic status, familial
relationships, community-police relationships, language, and gang affiliations. The

major question I seek to answer is “How have structural constraints impacted the

identities and quality of life for AAM living in Lima?”




Methods

The methods I used in collecting the data were participant observation, archival
research, life history narratives (See Appendix A), in-depth interviews (See Appendices
B and C), literature reviews, attendance at political and social community events—
specifically Family Reunions®, media sources, a local documentary (See Appendix E),
family documentation from the Goings, Williams, and Brown families, and analysis of
rap music and the writings and photography of the AAM in question (See Appendices F,
G and H). Additionally, each community participant was asked to sign a consent form
(See Appendix D). This methodology is culturally specific and relevant, as the history of
African Americans has largely been handed down through oral methods, and kept alive
by families getting together, especially for reunions and funerals. In this sense, what
emerges is a rich social history of how ordinary people lived and thought.

Historical archival resources included: county documents, specifically the Allen
County Censuses of 1840, 1870, and 1880, annual reports from the Allen County Health
Department, the Allen County School Board, the Allen Economics Development Group,
the Ohio Department of Health: HIV/AIDS Quarterly Statistical Summary; the US
Federal Censuses of 1950, 1990 and 2000, the US Department of Justice: Uniform
Crime Reports 1997, local area literature, both published and unpublished (See Allen

1931, Bennett 1969, Bowsher 1994, Davis 1978, Gales 1978, Hackman 1958, Hipp 1971,

¥ Family Reunions are a primary source when compiling histories of African Americans in the U. S. They
are essentially yearly gatherings of kin from all over the U. S. and consist of participants bringing a potluck
item, and meeting and discussing family historics. I am a member of the annual Goings Williams Family
Reunion that has been meeting on the first Saturday in August at a park in Defiance, Ohio since 1919.
Family oral histories are passed down from one generation to the next at these affairs. Adero (1993), sites
the passing down of oral histories at yearly family gatherings as one of the major ways that African
Americans have been able to preserve family histories throughout the major migrations from the South to
the North.



Hirisimaki 1986, McGee 1980, McGown 1921, Selfridge 1981, The Spring Quarter
History Class of Ohio State University the Lima Branch (SQHC) 1971, Stark 1993,
Stemen 1998, Watson 1976, Williamson 1931, and Wren Historical Publication: From
Greenwood to Wren 1837), local area newspapers, specifically, the Lima Daily, the Lima
News, the Lima Times Democrat, the Allen County Democrat, and the Lima Voice; and a
locally produced documentary, entitled, “Hats, Handkerchiefs, and Fans,” (Scott 1993).

A key archival source that I employed to describe the community life in the voice
of those who lived through early historical events in the Lima area was unpublished data
from 26 citizens who participated in a study conducted by the now deceased Lima area
resident Vera Gales entitled, “The Spedy Historical Research Project” in 1978. Consent
forms, transcriptions of interviews and tape recordings of those interviews were available
to me through the archives in the library of the Allen County Museum. Interviews were
transcribed verbatim from their original tape recordings, which is a research feature that
is crucial in reflecting differing variations in speaking patterns among the local African
American population.

Participants in the current research study included community members, school
administrators and teachers, and AAM themselves. There were a total of 54 participants,
27 of which were AAM and 27 community members. The 27 AAM included: athletes,
musicians, students, high school dropouts, night school students, gang members,
independent contractors, fathers, brothers, and sons. The 27 community members
included: parents, school administrators and teachers, and community stakeholders. All
of the interviews were tape-recorded and transcribed by the author of the report. I began

the research in December 2002 and ended in August 2003. During the term of the
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research I lived in a variety of living situations, both in private rooming houses, and in
different community member’s homes.

The archival research encompassed spending long hours in the library at the Allen
County Museum searching through two very large boxes that were marked “The Black
History of Lima.” Committed, community members who were pleased that someone
from Lima was writing about the Black History of Lima in an organized and structured
way further bolstered archives. Family documents were shared with me, which proved to
be crucial in gaining the level of depth needed to understand life for African Americans
in the earlier part of the 19" and 20" centuries.

Further, a local private historian who had been collecting the history of Lima’s
African American citizens for 20 years also assisted me in this quest. Her collection
consisted of original documents, historical Black Newspapers, photographs, and a 20-
year collection of The Lima News (which is the local mainstream paper). Her database
consisted of piles of newspapers and archival documents stored in rooms in five of the
houses she owns throughout the Lima area. I felt quite honored and privileged when she
sent word that she would allow me access to these archives. The private historian
imposed conditions on the use of her historical documents, specifically that she must
accompany me as I read and made copies of newspaper articles. This research feature
added an element of both the lived experience of the private historian and provided
information that was not available in the historical collections of the Allen County
Historical Society.

A series of interviews (See Appendices B and C) were conducted in a variety of

locations throughout the community including private homes, restaurants, recording
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studios, local area shopping centers, local area bars, dancing establishments, churches,
business establishments, work environments or wherever the people being interviewed
chose to meet which was a feature that allowed more freedom and provided the greatest
access to the most people. Conducting interviews in this way was extremely helpful in
obtaining a holistic view of life for AAM in the city of Lima.

Additionally, life history narratives (See Appendix A) were used to structure the
individual interviews of the 27 key participants which enhanced the research by
providing a conversational style, establishing trust, and breaking down initial barriers.
Each participant was asked to describe his life as a book starting with chapter one and
progressing forward until he chose to end the book. The final question asked was what
the title of the book would be.

I gained knowledge of the initial seven participants in the study when I
volunteered in a literacy program conducted at Lima Alternative High School during the
fall of 1999. Through volunteering I became acquainted with both the students I assisted
and their mothers. This bond was nurtured and continued throughout the 2000/2001
school year which proved helpful in establishing rapport and developing a mutual trust
between myself and members of a population that are labeled at-risk.

This aspect of my volunteer position became particularly relevant to me because
the mothers that I interacted with were far different from how they are depicted in the
media (Dickerson 1995, Vaz 1995). Many of the mothers wanted their sons to do better
in school and constantly talked about them graduating from regular school and staying
out of trouble. Some of them understood that the goal and mission statement of

alternative school was not to graduate students or prepare students for the job market but

18



to control behavior (Starks 1993). Through these interactions I became acquainted with
gatekeepers and key members of the neighborhood and further developed my sense of
commitment to the community.

Lastly, a rough draft of the dissertation was distributed to several local historians,
a local music historian, and interested community members a feature that was in keeping
with the general tone of the research that prefaced the voices, recollections, and
memories of those being studied. I will also be presenting the findings at the annual
African American History Program at the Bradfield Community Center in Lima in
February 2004, to members of the Allen County Historical Society in their annual
“Lima’s Histories” event in September of 2004, and at the annual Goings Williams
Family Reunion on August 7, 2004. A copy of the completed dissertation will be given

to the society for inclusion in their “Black History of Lima” archival collection.
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Chapter 1: The Early Black Settlers

We seldom study the condition of the Negro today honestly and carefully.
1t is so much easier to assume that we know it all. Or perhaps, having
already reached conclusions in our own minds we are loath to have them
disturbed by facts. And yet how little we really know of these millions—of
their daily lives and longings. W E.B. DuBois’

Early Settlements

In 1803, the state of Ohio was founded on land inhabited by the Shawnee Nation.
In 1817, Pe-Aitch-Ta (Pht), the leader of the Shawnee Nation signed The Treaty of the
Foot of the Rapids of the Miami Lake with the U.S. government (7he Lima News
February 23, 2003). The treaty gave his people 25 acres of land in the present Shawnee
Township for their reservation.

Allen County was established on April 1, 1820 (Hirisimaki 1986). In September
1812, Colonel Thomas Poague and his command built Fort Amanda and installed
sawmill operations and a shipyard to supply the U.S. Army and Navy with scows for the
navigable Ohio Rivers (Hirisimaki 1986). The area was officially part of the
Northwestern Ohio Congress Lands, which were surveyed by Captain James Riley in
1820 (Hirisimaki 1986). The 1820 survey led to the annexation of 440 square miles of
the former Indian Territory into Allen County and was attached to Mercer County for
judicial purposes (Hirisimaki 1986). In 1824, the first organized government was formed

when Christopher Wood established the township in Allen County (Hirisimaki 1986).

° W.E.B. DuBois, The Souls of Black Folk (1903: 101).
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First White Settlers

The first known white settlement was Sugar Creek and was located in Bath
Township in Allen County (Hackman 1958). The first families in this community
included the Woods family and five other white families in 1824 (Hackman 1958).

Another white settlement was established in the county in 1825. It was called
Hog Creek and was founded by Samuel McClure, Joseph Walton, and Joseph Ward, and
built on the banks of Hog Creek about five miles southeast of the Sugar Creek settlement
(Hackman 1958). In 1831, the first Allen County officials were appointed and charged
with laying out a town to be the seat of the county government. Northwest Ohio sat in an
area known as “The Black Swamp Wilderness”, which was a wetland forested in maple,
beech, oak, hickory, and ash trees (7he Lima News, February 23, 2003).

The city of Lima was founded and incorporated when the first city council
convened on March 29, 1842, on a 160-acre land tract (Hackman 1958). The judges of
the newly formed Court of Common Pleas in Allen County appointed the first county
officials and named Christopher Wood the first town director (Hackman 1958).

Ten years after it’s beginning, Allen County numbered 578 residents and after
making Lima the county seat, it continued to grow (Hirisimaki 1986). In 1845, the
Miami-Erie Canal was completed, opening the area up to businesses (Hackman 1958).
By 1850, the Allen County Census records show 12,116 residents. According to
Hackman (1958) the main stream of growth can be attributed to the local lumbering
enterprises and migrating workers seeking to better themselves. In 1854, the first railroad
came through Lima (Hackman 1958). By the fall of 1856, the township consisted of four

school districts and 63 households (Hackman 1958).
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First Black Settlers

Though the historical record indicates that black settlers moved into the area at
the same time white settlers did, there is a lively debate concerning who, exactly, the first
black settlers to the area were (Selfridge 1981, McGee 1980, McGown 1921, Williamson
1931, Wren Historical Publication 1837). Research into the matter reveals that the first
government documented record of blacks in the area was in 1840 (Allen County Census
1840).

The Allen County Census of 1840 reports that James Robinson and his family
were possibly the first black family (Selfridge 1981). Selfridge explains that James
Robinson was a farmer and that both he and his wife Martha were illiterate. His name
appears as both Robison and Robinson on that census. Robinson and his family were
reported in the early Allen County Marriage Records of 1837 as the first black family in
Lima (Selfridge 1981).

This claim is contested by oral tradition that holds that the first black man in Lima
was a man named Banks who married a white woman named Brown (Wren Historical
Publication 1837). According to family documentation, Banks was a farmer and owned
a farm on Findley Road, west of the Mcéullough Lake (Williamson 1931).

A newspaper clipping (7he Lima News February 16, 2003), historical publications
and family documentation disclose that Godfrey Brown, a former slave of John Randolph
of Roanoke, Virginia, was the first black man to settle in the area. According to the
historical documentation, Wren Historical Publication (1837), Brown reportedly
purchased release for his family and moved to freedom in the Xenia area in 1830. There

Brown, a minister, founded Middle Run Baptist Church, now the oldest black church in
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the state of Ohio (Wren Historical Publication 1837). Further, Brown is reported to have
founded a cemetery, which has become the final resting place of many blacks that moved
to Ohio for freedom from Virginia slave owners (Brown family documentation).

According to family records, Brown was granted freedom on March 7, 1820,
when he was 52 years old. He was the son of slave parents of an agricultural and tobacco
slave owner. Further family documentation verifies that slaves freed from the
Randolph’s estate began arriving in the Wren area of Van Wert County in 1837.

The oral account is problemitized by oral tradition that states that it was not
Godfrey Brown, but his grandsons William Harvey Brown and James Brown, who were
the members of the family to make their way to Van Wert County. They were reported to
be the sons of Godfrey Brown’s son Samuel, also a minister. William and James are
reported to have left the Xenia area to move to Van Wert County to join an already
flourishing black community that had settled in the area (Brown family documentation).

An informant in an unpublished paper from the Spring Quarter History Class of
Ohio State University Lima Campus retells the Lima connection to Godfrey Brown that
has been passed down through oral tradition by his ancestors in 1971. In that paper
Brown’s ancestor explains the relationship in the following way:

Godfrey Brown, a runaway slave, joined the Revolutionary Army where he

became renowned for bravery. His former owner, hearing of his valor, gave him

his freedom at the close of the war. Somehow, Godfrey Brown made his way to

Van Wert County where in 1780-85, he is reputed to have purchased for 25 cents

per acre over one-eighth of the county. His family held title to this land (intact)

until the Civil War. One of his descendents is still the owner of a large farm in

the county. Mr. E. Elmer Brown and Mr. Bert King of Lima are descendents of
that pioneer.
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Upon analysis, the dates given for Godfrey Brown’s arrival to the Ohio area are in
conflict, which stems from differing accounts of collective memories, family
documentation, and the historical record. Taking all of these sources into consideration,
the significant thing about the settlement of Godfrey Brown, is that his descendents are
still living and thriving on the land he purchased in Van Wert County, Wren, Ohio (Lima
News February 16, 2003). Land purchases of other early black settlers are no longer in
the hands of their descendents. According to historical scholars of the area, this is largely
attributed to the impact of structural forces, namely in the form of unrecorded land deeds,
the establishment of terroristic broad signs posted throughout the area, and segregation of
available resources that was based on skin color (McGee 1980, Watson 1976, Bennett

1969).

First Black Families

A paper by Captain Peter McGown'® in 1921 appears to be the first written
history of Allen County’s black community during the Civil War period. Although
McGown does not provide the date of the first black family settling in Lima, he does
record the name of the first black child born in Lima as Viola Moss, daughter of John and
Becky Moss. According to Selfridge (1981), the information could not be verified

through county records, but is supported by oral tradition that holds that she died in

10 According to Selfridge (1981), Henry McGown was a black man who was enlisted in the 54™
Massachusetts Infantry during the Civil War and was assigned to Detroit as a cabinet maker to assist in the
manufacturing of coffins. He came to Lima in 1870 as a carpenter from Kentucky owning $400 in real
estate. His wife, Anna, was also from Kentucky. They had five children, one of whom was Peter
McGown. U.S. Army Captain Peter McGown was a prominent war hero. He served as an American
soldier who fought in several Indian campaigns and also served in the Philippines. He is best known for his
bravery in Cuba during the Spanish-American War for which he was awarded to the Distinguished Service
Corps and the Distinguished Service Medal. He served in the 10" U.S. Calvary in the Spanish-American
War under 1* Lieutenant John Pershing. His services were refused in World War I (WWTI) because he was
80 years old. He was a respected member of the Black community in Lima,

24



infancy. Another of the early black children reported in Allen County, was James
Robinson. The Allen County Census of 1840 records that he was born in 1837 and list
him as the son of James and Martha Robinson.

Between the year 1837 and 1849, at least thirteen black families moved into the
Lima area (McGown 1921). Additionally, it is known that the James Moss residence o
South Union Street was the apparent center of social activity for the growing black
community (McGown 1921). It may also be noted, that in describing the recreational
social life of the early black pioneers, McGown does not mention any contact with the
white community. The finding may indicate that blacks were segregated socially from

whites in the area.

Origins of the Early Black Pioneers

Who were the early black settlers? Where did they come from? Were they
escaped slaves or freemen? Additionally, who were the early white settlers and where
did they come from? According to a talk on “Black History” given by local historian,
Elizabeth McGee on November 16, 1980, to the Allen County Historical Society in Lin
the passage of the Black Laws was one tool that effectively limited which early settlers
would be able to remain in the area. Her explanation is as follows:

Although Ohio was considered a free state that forbade slavery it passed a serie:
of Black Laws. In 1804, 1807, 1829, and 1830 that eroded the civil and legal
rights of its black population and that discouraged settling in the state. Example
of these laws were: 1) Blacks and Mulattos were not allowed to settle in the sta
unless they could produce freedom papers issued from some court in the U.S. 2
Blacks already living in the state must register with the county clerk 3) Newly
freed Blacks were forbidden to enter the state unless they could provide a $500
bond signed by two white men guaranteeing their good behavior and support 4
Blacks were not to be counted when determining the number of elected seats to
filled in the general assembly 5) Blacks could not benefit from the law providir
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for the maintenance of the poor in the state since the law applied only to legal

residents and they were not considered legal residents 6) Blacks were denied

admission to the state common school system and prohibited from sharing the
state common school fund.

This document is an example of how structural forces, in the form of Black Laws,
were instrumental in barring blacks from settling in Ohio. McGee (1980) goes on to
explain that in spite of laws and economic conditions, blacks continued to settle all over
Ohio and in 1849, the Black Laws were finally repealed. The finding indicates that
blacks were actively resisting structural forces.

Further, she summarizes that the black population that was successful in settling
consisted of two predominant groups. One group was made up of people who had
established their freedom by legislation, by military service, by deed or will, by birth, by
self-purchase, or by escape. The pattern of migration for the first group was usually in an
Easterly-Westerly direction (McGee 1980, Bennett 1969, Woodson 1918). Examples of
this group of early settlers were the Robinsons and the Browns. The other group
consisted of fugitive slaves—their migration pattern was in a Northerly direction, as such
they were always on the run (McGee 1980, Bennett 1969, Woodson 1918). An example
of this group was Joel and Wesley Goins'' (Goings family documentation).

Further, Selfridge (1981) reports in A Directory of Blacks in Allen County Prior to
1883 the following demographic information. The list is compiled from the federal

census, city directories, county histories, previously prepared reports, early county

marriage records, and from the reminiscences of prior citizens as reported in articles and

'' 1 am a descendent of the Joel Goins family who came to the Ohio as a runaway slave from the Hughes
slave plantation in Kentucky (Williams’ family documentation). Joel Goins was significant to the early
African American settlers because his son, “Doc” D.C. Goings, who was born in Rumley, Ohio in 1839,
would emerge as the local area faith healer. His skills in alternative health practice earned him respect
throughout the area (Hipp 1971). In the contemporary context, the name Goins has been changed to
Goings and the Goings-Williams family reunion has been celebrating his contributions to African
American identity in the area anmmally since 1919.
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papers. Selfridge (1981) notes that no effort was made to search Lima newspapers for the
mention of blacks, or to search any records at the Allen County Courthouse.

e They were largely from the following Southern states: Virginia, West Virginia,
Kentucky, South Carolina, North Carolina, Georgia and Tennessee. Additionally,
there were a few from Mississippi, Arkansas, Indiana and Canada.

e Many came as laborers with the following skills: engineers, barbers, farmers,
teamsters, draymen, seamstresses, merchants, barkeepers, stone masons,
machinists, plasterers, brick masons, blacksmiths, whitewashers, tailors,
carpenters, missionaries and ministers.

¢ Some of their occupations included: wood sawyer, car builder, restaurant clerk,
laborers, servants (the job classification was specific to black women who were
in-service to white families), farm laborer, day laborer, housekeeper (the job
classification was specific to black women who worked in the homes of wealthy
white families), tannery worker, house mover, groom, domestic, washer woman,
hairdresser, saloon cook, and sawmill worker.

e Many were property owners; specifically they owned their own farms and various
real estate in the county. (Selfridge’s document gives a detailed account of the
amount in dollars of the real estate each person owned).

e There was no listing of any of the early black settlers in the professional classes,
specifically as doctors, nurses, dentists or undertakers. “Doc” D.C. Goins is an

example of the resilience of community members regarding their health care.
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¢ Quite a few of the early black settlers took in boarders'?, both white and black.
Some of the black men, particularly those from Virginia, married local white
women as they settled in the county.

o The businesses in Lima that employed many of the early black settlers were:
Lima Handle Factory, French House (a restaurant), Lima Paper Mill, Shade’s
Livery Stable, The Lima House (a restaurant), Lima Gas Company (they were
employed lighting gas street lamps).

e There was an even distribution of both literate and illiterate people among them.
The finding is significant as McGee (1980) and Watson (1976) record that a
manual training school for blacks had been established in the area by August
Wattles, a Quaker from Connecticut, in 1835.

e A few of them were listed as prisoners in the Allen County Jail."?

In 1978, Lima resident Vera Gales conducted a research project entitled, “The Spedy
Historical Research Project” (SHRP 1978). The aim of the project was to gather together
a history of black residents of Lima. To date the data gathered from that project has
never been formally analyzed or published, however, tapes of oral interviews conducted
by her research team were transcribed and donated to the archives of the libraries of the
Allen County Museum in Lima, Ohio. Data gathered from those oral interviews is
fruitful in depicting the types of employment Lima’s early black residents were engaged

in. An example from an interview in that project is as follows:

'2 In his classic work, The Philadelphia Negro (1899) W.E.B. DuBois finds that taking in boarders was
prevalent among blacks living in the seventh ward of Philadelphia as well.

* The first actual courthouse was built in 1832. The small hewn-log structure was two stories high and
also housed a jail and the county offices (The Lima News, March 2, 2003).
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¢ So you’re a native Lima resident?

I’m a native of Lima.

e » R

: What year were you born?

=

1894

: So you’ve been around for a good little bit?

(=

»

: Yeah, except for the help of the good Lord, I wouldn’t never made it.

Q: So what kind of work did you do then?

A: I started out doing a little bit of everything, kind of work whatever I could
get to make a piece of money and I finally started, I settled down to doing
porter work. The first job I had, real steady was at Albert’s Beauty Parlor,
a white place and I worked there four years and a half.

This finding is consistent with other scholarship, which documents the types of
employment available to blacks (DuBois 1899). The only employment available to many
of the migrating blacks was restricted to service to the white population a process that
fostered the growth of dependency and discouraged independency of this segment of the
population. McGown’s (1921) composition is insightful here, as he states that local

whites were much more comfortable with blacks in the roles of servitude which he felt

maintained the superior-inferior status among the two groups.

Origins of the Early White Pioneers

Who were the early white settlers in Ohio at this time? McGee (1980) states the
following:

By the 1850s the white population in Ohio consisted mainly of three

groups. The Scotch and Irish from Pennsylvania, Virginia and Kentucky

had settled in the Southern counties along the Ohio River. They were
opposed to slavery but were staunchly resistant to the presence of free
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blacks under any circumstance, because of their economic threat."*
Another group was the New England contingent that settled in the
Western Reserve Region down to around Marietta. Their Puritan
background opposed slavery morally and they could accept free blacks as
long as they were an idealistic image in their minds. But when they came
in contact with them, they generally went along with the severe Southern
Ohio thinking. The third group of whites was the Quakers who came from
Pennsylvania, Virginia, and the Carolinas. They settled in the Central and
Southeastern counties and resolutely maintained their humanitarian
idealisms and their strong religious beliefs enabling them to fight for
better treatment of blacks'®> (McGee 1980).

The details of the migratory patterns of white settlers indicate that they came into
the area at the same time as blacks. A crucial difference between the two is that whites
were able to settle anywhere they liked without fear of being harassed by blacks who
were arriving at the same time. This finding validates McGown’s (1921) earlier

observation regarding superiority-inferiority and the advantages of white skin privilege.

Early Black Settlements: Rumley and Carthegena

According to the historical record, there were a number of early black settlements.
They were specifically, the village of Rumley in Shelby County, the village of
Carthegena in Mercer County, and smaller unnamed black settlements in Van Wert and
Paulding Counties (McGee 1980, Bennett 1969). An understanding of events that
occurred in two of the settlements is a crucial element regarding the migration patterns of
the early blacks that settled in the Lima vicinity. Thusly, a brief history of the villages of

Rumley and Carthegena is warranted.

l';sell?Ma)'a'ng Whiteness: The Culture of Segregation in the South, 1890-1940, Hale (1998) makes the same
observation.

* In Mountain People in a Flat Land Feather (1998) confirms the finding,
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The Village of Rumley

The village of Rumley was an early black community founded by Joel Goins and
his brother Wesley when they purchased 400 acres of land on the Indian Trail between
Lima and Piqua in 1830 (McGee 1980, Hipp 1971). The Goins brothers were reputed to
be runaway slaves from the Hughes plantation in Northern Kentucky (Williams’s family
documentation). They changed their name to Goins so they would not be captured and
sent back to slavery (Williams’s family documentation). They were soon joined by
various groups of black settlers including free blacks from Baltimore who pioneered their
way westward to join the new community (McGee 1980). Oral tradition holds that
Rumley was a part of the Underground Railroad, which added to its attraction. It was
also a natural rest stop for the stagecoach, which led to the construction of an inn and
livery stable and to the establishment of stores, a saloon and industries—specifically, a
brick factory, a sawmill, and a gristmill (McGee 1980, Bennett 1969). The Rumley
community also supported three black churches, among them the African Methodist
Episcopal (AME) and the Baptist (McGee 1980, Bennett 1969). Both denominations
were founded in Lima shortly after the Rumley churches were established (McGee 1980,
Bennett 1969).

In 1837, a group of free blacks migrated to Rumley. Two of the new black
settlers were Solomon Lott and John Robinson who both received land deeds equaling
120 acres apiece signed by then president, Martin Van Buren (McGee 1980, Hipp 1971,
Bennett 1969). From there the population of Rumley continued to grow to over five

hundred people (McGee 1980, Bennett 1969). The village continued to flourish until
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1865 when a broadside warning to blacks appeared throughout Shelby County (McGee

1980). The contents of the sign were as follows:

WARNING!!!
To Negroes in Shelby County
At a meeting of the .O.O.N.A. it was resolved that in consequence of
the late influx of Negroes to some parts of this county, especially near
Romley (sic), Daysville, and vicinity, and in consequence of their bad
conduct, insolence, and competition with white labor and other numerous
causes it was resolved to give you

WARNING!!!

That you must arrange your business and depart within sixty days from
this date, or by the 20™ of November 1865, or measures, already adopted,
will be taken to make this location unhealthy for you. Our means are
adequate, and it is a duty we owe our families, ourselves and society to use
them promptly
September 15, 1865 By Order of 1.0.O.N.A.

(Source: McGee 1980)

The poster was reflective of what was happening to free blacks throughout the
nation and led to a panic which resulted in the massive exodus of early black settlers and
their families (McGee 1980, Bennett 1969). Many of them migrated to other towns
including Lima, Dayton and Toledo (McGee 1980, Bennett 1969). In this regard,
McGee’s (1980) talk and the supporting document of a copy of the actual broadside
warning sign is significant. In a number of historical documents, newspaper accounts
and local literature no explanation is given for the drastic decline of black settlers in the
Rumley area after 1865. A paper written by the Spring Quarter History Class of the Ohio
State University Lima Campus (SQHC) in 1971 makes no reference as to the reasons
early black settlers vacated the Rumley site. The paper concludes the discussion of
Rumley with the following statement, “Today at the present site of the Rumley

settlement, there are few remaining black families.”
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The Village of Carthegena

Rumley was not the only black settlement in Northwestern Ohio. Carthegena was
another significant early black community in the area (McGee 1980, Bennett 1969).
Carthegena is of further significance to the area as it is reputed to have served as a station
in the Underground Railroad before emancipation (McGee 1980).

In the historical document “From Greenwood to Wren” (Wren Historical
Publication 1837) the date given for the establishment of the Village of Carthegena is
1837, by the freed slaves of John Randolph of Roanoke, Virginia. The document
supporting the event states specifically,

Randolph’s will provided for the emancipation of his 318 slaves
and also funds for their support. Between 30 and 40 ex-slaves
were granted deeds from 40 to 60 acres of land in Mercer County,
Wilshire Township. The administers of the estate sent two agents
to Mercer County to assist freed slaves in settling. Eventually the
size of the community had grown to 125 Negro male voters (Wren
Historical Publication 1837).

McGee (1980) counters this claim, and provides the following account of the
events that occurred in Carthegena concerning the freed slaves of John Randolph.

August Wattles, a Quaker from Connecticut established a manual training
school in 1835 in the then sparsely settled Mercer County. Blacks from
Cincinnati were encouraged to settle there. The community developed to
such an extent that by 1840 a black named Charles Moore planned the
village of Carthegena, which consisted of 64 lots. Some of the black
residents were employed in Celina. Some of the whites attempted to run
them out of the area, but that attempt failed. The peacefulness of the
settlement, however, was to be short-lived. White settlers began to move
in and encircle the black homes. Complaints were constantly made that
the residents of Carthegena were sheltering runaways. The pressure on the
black population to leave the area was to increase considerably with the
migration and attempted settlement of the Randolph freed slaves.

Who were the Randolph freed slaves? John Randolph was a brilliant and

eccentric slaveholder from the Roanoke Virginia area. His original will in
1819 gave his slaves their freedom and made provisions for relocation in
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another state upon his death. However, his last will, written January 1,
1832, contradicted his manumitting of his slaves. On his deathbed in May
1833, Randolph remembered the contradictory nature of his wills.
Therefore, he remarked to an attending doctor in an earnest manner, “I
confirm every disposition in my will especially that respecting my slaves,
whom I have manumitted and for whom I have made provision.”

After his death, a dispute followed with his heirs pertaining to which will
was valid. After almost 13 years of litigation, the courts in May 1846
recognized the first will as valid; and a William Leigh was duly
recognized as Executor of Randolph’s estate. During those thirteen years,
the slaves were still kept in bondage and hired out. Leigh than traveled to
Mercer County to make arrangements to buy farmland (near where the
town of Celina now stands) to have local people build the houses and
supply the food and to leave the bond money. In early June, Leigh led the
group of almost 400 newly freed slaves to the Ohio River, then by boat to
Cincinnati and up the Miami-Erie Canal by canal boats to Mercer County.
But alas, the German settlers had passed several resolutions, which made
their position perfectly clear on the matter of these new colonists coming
to their area by their adoption of these resolutions:

1) Resolved: that we will not live among Negroes, as we have
settled here first, we have fully determined that we will resist
the settlements in this county to the full extent of our means,
the bayonet not excepted—(this was aimed specifically at the
Randolph folk, Resolutions 2 and 3 were aimed at blacks
already living in the area)

2) Resolved: that the Negroes of this county be requested to leave the
county on or before the first day of March, 1847, and in the case of
their neglect or refusal to comply, we pledge ourselves to remove
them, peaceably if we can, forcibly if we must.

3) Resolved: that we who are assembled pledge ourselves not to employ
or trade with any Negro or Mulatto person in any manner whatever or
permit them to have any grindings done at our mills after March 1,
1847.

When the Randolph contingent arrived in the village of Carthegena on a
Sunday in July 1846, they were met by a vicious group of Mercer and
Auglaize white residents armed with pitchforks and guns. After a bitter
confrontation, the newcomers were put on chartered boats and were
escorted, by the armed white citizens back to the county line. Some of the
blacks stopped off at Sidney, others went down to Piqua, Troy, Lima and
Cincinnati. Leigh returned to Virginia, giving the power of attorney to
someone else, who in turn sold off the land. Neither the Randolph folk,
nor their descendents ever received any compensation because the land
was never recorded in their names (McGee 1980).
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This account is problemitized by the living relatives of Godfrey Brown, that state
that he was one of the former Randolph slaves. Their claim is confirmed by historical
record, family documentation and the fact that they are still living on the original land
purchased by Godfrey Brown (Brown family documentation). The finding may indicate
that at least one, if not more of the freed slaves of the Randolph plantation were
successful in resisting the structural constraints imposed on them by the early German
immigrants.

The recorded incidents of terrorism toward the Rumley and Carthegena blacks
may have been the force that served to bolster the growing black population in Lima.
Interviews from SHRP (1978) support the Rumley/Carthegena/Lima connection.
Examples of the connection from the project’s oral interviews are as follows:

Q: Where are you originally from?

A: From Carthegena, Ohio.

Q: Were your parents also from Carthegena?

A: Yes.

Q: Did you attend school in Lima?

A: No, I attended school in Carthegena, the elementary school, and I went to
high school in St. Mary’s Ohio (SHRP 1978).

Another interview from that project further details the connection:

According to my information we’ve gathered through my black friends,
there was a colony of black settlers over around Van Wert in the early
1800’s, 1827 or 1847, I'm not sure. They were given 750 acres of land by
their owners down south that freed them. They brought this land and
turning free they settled up on it. I think there was another colony down
by Anna, I don’t know if land was involved there, there was another one in
Shelby County, I believe, I think there were 3 groups settled in the general
area, and there’s one family I understand that still owns 157 acres of land
around Van Wert County, the original ranch that they had. These folks,
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many of them came in to Lima and worked as domestics and stable hands
and gardeners, many of them chauffeurs and carriage drivers and so forth
for the well to do (SHRP 1978).

Early Social Life of Lima Area Blacks

What is known about the social life of early blacks in Lima comes from The Lima
Times Democrat, a monthly black newspaper of the period. In the January 25, 1878,
issue references are made of “Black Camp Meetings” that were held quarterly at the
Allen County Fair Grounds. A summary of some of the activities that occurred at these
events gathered from articles in the 1878 edition of The Lima Times Democrat are as
follows:

Held annually at the fairgrounds for many years

Both Methodists and Baptists participated

Fairground especially decorated

Tents used as living quarters for staff

As a rule good order was maintained

Horse car service maintained to fairgrounds from the square during the period of
the meetings

Services held several times on Sundays and at least twice on week days

Music usually excellent—Negro chorus from Lima frequently furnished the
music—Negro Spirituals sung by entire audience drew crowds

Both blacks and whites attended the meetings and white ministers often spoke
Methodists held their meetings in July or August and the Baptists in September—
the meetings lasted about 10 days—one day was always given to “Temperance
Meetings”

e At least 20,000 people visited the fairgrounds during the meetings

The Allen County Democrat, which was another county wide black newspaper of the
time, describes “Black Emancipation Day Celebrations” in the area. The October 5, 1887
edition of this paper features the following headlines:

Colored people celebrated Emancipation Day at the Fairgrounds
Ft. Wayne, Delphos, Troy, Lima, Sidney, Piqua, Findley, Dayton

McGown (1921) makes reference to these celebrations and states that they were held

every year at the “Old Fair Grounds” in Allen County. He goes on further to state that
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they were well attended by blacks from all the surrounding counties and adds that large
potluck meals were passed around and dances accompanied by fiddle music rounded out
the night. The celebration of Emancipation Day by early blacks is consistent with
findings from other historical sources on this part of the country (Smith 1999, Thomas
1992).

The black population in Lima continued to flourish during the 19" century.
Information from the Allen County Census of 1870 indicates that there were at least 63
blacks in the county at that time. The Allen County Census of 1880 reveals that by that

time the number increased to 260.

The Role of the Early Black Church

During the 19™ Century, the church played a central role in the lives of blacks in
America and as well as the Lima (Raboteau 2001, Franklin and Moss 1994, DuBois
1899). In 1858, St. Paul’s African Methodist Episcopalian (AME) Church was founded
(Stark 1993). The church founding indicates that there were enough blacks living in
Lima to start a church. As the population grew, new black churches were started. In
1873, Second Street Baptist Church was founded (Stark 1993). Later, in 1917, Fourth
Street Baptist Church was founded (Stark 1993).

The following narrative in the unpublished paper by the Spring Quarter History Class
(SQHC) (1971), concerning the history of the black church in Lima, demonstrates the
connection between the Lima/Rumley/Carthegena black populations.

The first black church in Lima was St. Paul’s AME. It was started in 1858
by the reverend Father Grafton Graham. A Mrs. Rebecca Howard, whom

had previously pastored, was instrumental as well. At first the
membership was small and they met in their homes, where a Mr. Hudson
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preached to them. Then, through the efforts of a Mr. James Robinson (he
is also listed in the Allen County Census of 1840 as the first black settler
in the area, additionally he later became a steward and then pastor of the
church) an old school building at 666 West Spring Street, was purchased,
and the new church was dedicated by Bishop Paul Irwin and attached to
the Carthegena Church to form a circuit. Services were held there until
1876, when it was sold, and a former Presbyterian Church at the corner of
Spring and Elizabeth Streets was purchased under the administration of
R.P. Clark. The North Ohio Conference was formed in this church at the
September 6™, 11" session of the AME Ohio Conference in 1882. The
church was remodeled in 1893, when the Reverend Major W.T. Anderson
was pastor, and a lot at 1103 West Spring Street was purchased.

The second notable black church in Lima was founded in 1873, when
Reverend Revells, seven other people and the help of Reverend Shelton of
Rumley organized the Second Street Baptist Church. Services were held
in a hall over Langan’s grocery store on the Northeast corner of the Public
Square and Main Street. A Reverend Meredith served as pastor. Later the
meetings were moved into the Stamets Block on the Southwest corner of
Market and Union Streets, then to the home of Mary Moss (a member) on
South Union Street, where it remained until 1876 when the present site at
520 West Spring Street was purchased at a cost of $700 from Charles and
Elizabeth Samison on May 15, 1876. There was a four room dwelling on
the property, which was converted into a one-room church. The mortgage
on this property was burned in 1886, and the Articles of Incorporation
were filed with the State of Ohio on February 19, 1889. The first new
frame church was completed in 1890, and in 1891 the original dwelling
was remodeled to serve as patronage. By 1893 the membership had
increased to 115, and the Reverend Moss served as supply minister.

The third and last black church during that period was the Fourth Street
Baptist Church. In 1917, with the leadership of Reverends Leroy and
William McGee, this church was organized. For a short time, the seven
members met in their homes, and then a storeroom on the corner of Norval
Avenue and Fourth Street was rented for future services. In the latter part
of November the church became a part of the Northwestern Association.
Services were held in this building until 1919 when the membership had
grown to 45 (SQHC 1971).

These three churches played a significant role in connecting Lima area blacks to
the larger community, providing social welfare, and spiritual solace. As such, they were
the center of the community, which is a finding that is consistent with previous scholarly

research on the subject (Raboteau 2001, Franklin and Moss 1994, DuBois 1899).
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Black church formation illustrates the development of leadership in Lima’s black
community. Agency surfaced in the form of early ministers who served as moral,
spiritual and political guides and used the church to offer a variety of social services for
the neighborhood. Some of the services provided were concerts, suppers, socials, fairs,
literary exercises and debates, plays, excursions, picnics, and celebrations (DuBois 1899).
Additionally, it was one of the most financially stable institutions in the black community
(Raboteau 2001). The significance of this cannot be understated as it was funded by the
community at-large; therefore, it was one of the first grass roots organizations.

According to DuBois (1899), early churches were the birthplace of all the agencies that
wanted to promote the intelligence of the masses because they were the leading
institution where news and information was disseminated. Lastly, they were responsible

for providing a moral foundation and recreational activities for area youth.

Early Black Politicians in Lima

In correlation with the national trend, many of the local blacks were members of
the Republican Party (Schweninger 1978, Watson 1976). The Republican Party was the
party of Lincoln; it was the party, which had given them freedom (Frazier 1957). The
Democratic Party, on the other hand, was the party of the southern white men who had
been responsible for lynching, disenfranchisement, and segregation (Frazier 1957).

Several sources from around the Lima area document that early black Republican
Party members were active in precinct work. A clipping from The Lima Times Democrat
(1888) indicates that William H. Wilson, a black man from the Lima area, was bidding

for the Republican nomination for mayor during the spring primaries of 1888. There is
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no evidence as to the success of his campaign; however, the fact that any black person
would even try to run for office at such an early date is very significant. In the March 23,
1888 edition of The Lima Times Democrat in an article entitled, “Colorline” a Lima area
black citizen provides the following assessment of Wilson’s run for office and his
subsequent campaign.

One of the most distressing and disrespectful things under observation for

some time is the refusal of the Gazette to announce the name of Wm. H.

Wilson, a highly respectable colored man, as a candidate for mayor. It

would certainly be in accord with the American idea for personal liberty to

pay due respect to all men irrespective of color or nationality, providing

they are men of character, and they should receive equal recognition.

The finding indicates that black people in the Lima area were attempting to resist
the larger power structure by exercising their right to participate in politics. It is also
interesting to note that Lima area blacks did not refer to themselves as “Negro” but
preferred the less derogatory term of “Colored”.

On March 25, 1888, an article that appeared in The Lima Daily, the white
newspaper of the time, reflects the white sentiment of Wilson’s aspirations. In that paper
Wilson’s candidacy is viewed as “an attempt to use the colored vote to further schemes of

the politician managers” and states that “there is no disposition on the part of the

Republicans to give him the nomination for the position.”

Race Relations
The literature is scarce regarding race relationships between local area whites and
blacks. However, that is not to say that they did not occur, in this regard the SQHC

(1971) reports the following incident:
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The incident happened in 1888 between the Negroes and Irish Americans.
It started in the Del Flora Saloon when Negroes and Irish Americans were
there together. Someone started the song, “Don’t Like a Nigger, No
How.” An exchange of words was followed by an exchange of fists. In
the melee, an Irish boy by the name of Pat Hughes was getting a drink of
water from a pump outside the saloon when he was knifed by Fred
Harrison, a Negro. The boy died and violence erupted. There were other
injuries from this incident, but no other deaths.

The historical clash continued to plague the black and Irish community in the
Lima area. Evidence of the clash emerges with the integration of blacks from the Deep
South to the Southend of Lima in the 1940s. The Irish communities’ response is that they

flee from the area.

Early Black Businesses

In the 1870s and 1880s, historical records divulge that Lima area black’s
organized a number of mutual aid, secret and beneficial societies a finding that is
consistent with prior research (Frazier 1957, DuBois 1899). DuBois (1899) describes the
formation of these societies in other Northern black communities and details them in the
following way. “Essentially all that was required to join these societies was a small
initiation fee and small monthly payments. These payments supported members when
they became ill, or in the case of the death of a member these fees went to pay funeral
expenses and help the widow” (1899: 221). Some organizations formed in Lima
included the Occidental Lodge #44, Free and Accepted Masons, Lima Lodge #2355,
Grand United Order of Odd Fellows, the United Brothers of Friendship, the Sisters of the
Mysterious Ten, and the Morning Star Lodge #15 (SQHC 1971). The presence of early
social organizations illustrates the agency of area blacks in pooling their resources to help

each other and become self-sufficient which made them central to the social life of the
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black community. According to DuBois (1899), similar societies were prevalent in
numerous Northern black communities and provided social intercourse and insurance

against misfortune. Next to the church they were the most popular organizations.

Early Industries: The Rockefeller Connection

Around the end of the 19" century Lima was becoming much more industrialized.
In 1870, John D. Rockefeller and several others formed the Standard Oil partnership to
own refineries in a handful of major cities. Rockefeller emerged as the only person
interested in building a refinery in Lima after oil was discovered (Stemen 1998). Using
three million dollars of his own money he brought the land and established the Buckeye
Pipe Line Company to gather and store the product (Stemen 1998). The refinery was
built in 1886, by Standard Oil and turned Lima into a booming oil town until 1910.

Whether blacks worked in the oil fields during that time is unknown.

Additional prominent industries of the time were:
(Source: The Lima News, March 2, 2003)

e 1840: A doomed brick courthouse was erected. The jail was located in the back
of the building

e 1879: Lima Locomotive Works began producing locomotives

e 1880: The first telephone system was installed

e 1884: business man Faurot opened an electrical generating plant
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e 1886: Standard Oil Refinery opened'®

o 1887: city’s first horse drawn streetcar

The establishment of industrial plants shaped and influenced the Lima environment in
a number of ways. The legacy of these industries surfaced in the high prevalence of
environmental pollution in the area, which has been linked to high rates of cancer in cities
with similar production (See Table 12). Recent construction of two cancer treatment

centers is evidence of the growing problem.

Conclusions

Historical evidence supports the following characteristics of the early African
American settles in the Lima area: many were landowners (Selfridge 1981, McGee 1980,
Hipp 1971, Bennett 1969); some owned and operated their own businesses (Watson
1976, McGown 1921); others came to the area with skills (Selfridge 1981, Bennett 1969);
and most came in search of a better life for their families (Brown, Goings, and Williams
families documentation). Their quest was interrupted by the terroristic tactics of early
European American settlers who feared economic competition (McGee 1980). The
endless disputes between the two groups led African Americans to resettle in the city of
Lima (McGee 1980, Hipp 1971). Once they resettled in the Lima area, their agency was
exhibited in a number of ways including: the establishment of social institutions,

organizations and significant community events, activity in area politics as participants in

' In 1900 the breakup of Standard Oil was ordered by the U.S. Supreme Court. In the mid-1990s the
refinery was ready to close until 1998 when Clark USA agreed to buy it from British Petroleum. In 2000
Clark changed its name to Premcor. Today (2003) the refinery employs about 400 people and sits on 650
acres. The petroleum products produced there are gasoline, diescl and jet fuel, commercial propane and
heavier fuel oil. Currently (2003) the refinery produces 25% of the gasoline sold in the state (The Lima
News, March 2, 2003).
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the election process and as political candidates, and produced and maintained their own

newspapers which could indicate that there was a level of literacy among them.
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Chapter 2: Life for Blacks from 1900 to 1950

For, while the tale of how we suffer, and how we are delighted, and how we may
triumph is never new, it always must be heard. There isn’t any other tale to tell,
it’s the only light we 've got in all this darkness. James Baldwin'’

Early Black Businesses

The 1900s proved to be as segregated for Lima’s black community as the prior
century, though there was no actual segregation law. The city’s black residents remained
largely constricted to the Westend. McGown (1921) writes that in 1920 many blacks
owned their own homes and many took advantage of their education. He does not
provide names of the available educational institutions, but states that black children were
part of the public school system in the Lima area.

McGown (1921) stresses that the majority of the black community lived in the
same area, which indicates the degree of segregation they had within the larger
community. He goes on to say that they were law abiding and were found in business
and other professions. The names of two of them were Hicks Brothers Barber Shop and
Busher’s and Oglesbee’s Freight Shop (McGown 1921).

He details the following concerning their employment possibilities. Many of
those that came to Lima between 1870 and 1900 were servants and laborers (McGown
1921). In 1892, a group of blacks was brought in to pave the public square and Main

Street (McGown 1921). One profession that some blacks were in was the barbershop

' James Baldwin, “Sonny’s Blues,” quoted in Gerald Early, Tuxedo Junction: Essays in American Culture
(New York: Ecco Press, 1989), 307.
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business'® and in these establishments they were only allowed to cut the hair of whites
(McGown 1921). The following account from SHRP (1978) is illustrative of this
practice.

Q: Okay, I also wanted to ask you about the black businesses around here in
about 1920 to 1930?

A: Let me see, the barbershops, they was quite a few way back there in

the 20s, colored barber shops were the head, most of them, they were good

barbershops, but the better barber shops had white trade, was about three I

know of but mostly had white trade and they had other barber shops

colored went to, but the best shops had white trade for quite a while til that

run out, til it died out. There were a few restaurants and things like that.

A colored restaurant around and they had a saloon, they had two or three

saloons, restaurants, nightclubs and beauty shops and a few poolrooms,

stuff like that.

In 1914, the Southend of Lima had grown large enough to support the opening of
several civic organizations. The first was a small mission project that functioned,
primarily, to assist local black children. It initially began as the Mission Union, which
was a forerunner of Church Women United, and eventually succeeded in opening a
Sunday school to accommodate the growing black community. Sometime later, a
weekday kindergarten was initiated and the name of the project was changed to the
Mizpah (which means Watch Tower) (SQHC 1971). In 1938, the Bradfield Center was
opened to provide recreation for black children and in 1939, the Lima Chapter of the
National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP) was formed
(SQHC 1971).

There have been blacks on the Lima police force since the 1890s, which is a

unique finding because scholarly investigation reveals that this was not the case in other

cities around the country (Stolberg 1998, Fine 1989). Bowsher (1994) notes that there

'8 This information is consistent with other scholarly work on early black occupations, specifically DuBois
(1899).
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were three black policemen on Lima’s police force. Beyond stating that there were black

police officers, he fails to provide the details concerning their duties. However, the fact

that they were in the department is significant as it indicates that the police force was one

of the first organizations to integrate in the Lima area.

Industrial Growth Continues

In the early 1900s, Lima experienced growth in the following large industrial

operations.

1907: The Ohio Steel Foundry began in Lima under Harry Wright and John C.
Calvin Jr. It was a leading employer in the area for many years.

1910: The Standard Telegraph Academy began training area residents as
telegraph operators.

1915: The Garford Motor Truck Company began operating—Garford trucks were
used for farm work and assisted the federal government during WWI.

1916: The Steiner Brothers opened a machine shop.

1920: Lima had become a major thoroughfare for train traffic with eight steam
railroads operating locally.

1924: Superior Coach opened (the name later became Sheller Globe).

1936: Westinghouse operations began in Lima as the “Small Motors Division.”

(Source: The Lima News, March 2, 2003)

The rapid influx of industry is significant to the entire population. Current research

suggests that they produce industrial waste that is harmful to overall health, a finding that

will play a key role in the social construction of a dependent blue-collar working class

(Fine and Weis 1998).
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Segregation:'®> Early Formation of Class and Ethnic Boundaries

During this period of massive industrial growth in Lima, there was little economic
or social movement for blacks. In fact, the city remained segregated, and the majority of
blacks remained confined to the Westend. Data gathered from SHRP (1978) helps
explain the phenomenon. The informant came to Lima in 1901, when she was 2 years
old.

Q: When you were growing up could you tell me what it was like because I
know there wasn’t so many homes and everything around here?

A: Well I lived there on Elm Street and there seemed like there were a
lot more homes there than there are now, they tear them down and
make parking lots out of them now. At first Elm Street was just a dirt
street, there for a long while before it was paved and there weren’t
many cars, everybody was riding horses and buggies and sleigh riding
and all that other stuff. And I forget just when the cars did start
because there were very few. People would go home from church and
they would walk right out in the middle of the street and come home at
night or the day and go home. There used to be a lot of people living
out here in the Westend. We used to call it Clipton.

Q: How did it get its name Clipton?

A: Idon’t know how, what caused that, it seemed like there was a
separation line or somehow it seems like West of Collett they used to
call it Clipton and curl around to about Woodlawn and they had their
boundaries at one time. In the Southend, Eastend, Northend, and not
many colored folks went north of the railroad and the Eastend, I don’t
know, they had a separating line.

Another response from that same series of interviews from a white informant
who moved to Lima in 1913 is descriptive of the city’s ethnic segregation patterns.

During that time, the early 1900s, the Southend was made up of different

groups, primarily Italians, some Russians, some Czechoslovakians, some

Lithuanians and Polish but more Italians, the Irish mainly were up North,
the Italians were primarily brought to work on the railroads by Italian

19 Segregation, as defined by Norrell (1985), is the system of laws, customs, and residential patterns that
separated blacks and whites that whites used to control blacks after slavery.

438



families here, indentured to them over in Europe and they gave them off
for their transportation and in bringing them over here.

Other evidence of how segregation—or the general tendency for blacks and
whites to live apart—affected early blacks is indicated by McGown (1921) when he
discuses how it carried over into their social lives. According to his account, prior to
1914, all of the local theaters accepted blacks unconditionally. In 1914, a southern white
man bought the three major theater houses, the Royal, Dreamland, and the Strand. After
the change in ownership, blacks could only come to the theater on specific days. In the
1920s, Hoover Park was designated as a place that area blacks could use for picnics and
for swimming. Streetcars of the time carried signs which signified that whites were given
priority and were allowed to fill as many seats as needed. The rest of the seats were left
for black passengers.

In the 1890s and early 1900s, Lima began to attract black doctors who were
needed to serve black patients, a finding that is consistent with other scholarship on the
subject (Dagbovie 2003, Woodson 1969). McGown (1921), reports that the early black
doctors in Lima were Dr. Howard, Dr. Beam, Dr. Peters, and Dr. Bradfield. Dr.
Bradfield stands out for his pioneering work in integrating the local medical facilities and
for his work in promoting recreational facilities for the city’s black children. He was
born on February 19, 1889, and attended Starling Medical School and the Medical
Department of Ohio State University. Additionally, he served in the Medical Reserve
Corps in WWI (McGown 1921). Locally, Dr. Bradfield was on the staffs of St. Rita’s
and Memorial Hospitals and was a member of the Allen County Medical Society
(McGown 1921). He was a respected surgeon who worked to integrate Lima’s medical

facilities. Outside the field of medicine, he served as trustee of the Second Street Baptist
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Church and was a teacher of the young people’s class (McGown 1921). He was also
active in social and political circles.

In 1933, Dr. Bradfield and others formed a committee to promote recreation for
Lima’s black community. The group changed its name to the Citizens’ Recreational
Council in 1936, and in 1938, the group became the Bradfield Community Association,
in honor of Dr. Bradfield who died in 1936 (SQHC 1971). They were responsible for the
erection of the Bradfield Center in 1948—a community organization that provides a
physical outlet for local youth. The legacy of a community center in his name indicates
the respect of Dr. Bradfield and his work by the locals.

During the 1920s, the Klu Klux Klan (KKK)® became a national phenomenon.
Historical records indicate that the KKK was involved in activities against local blacks in
the Lima area. In The Lima Profiles (Davis 1978) an incident is reported that details an
activity of the KKK in the Lima area. In 1924, the KKK, dressed in full regalia, marched
downtown through the public square. They ended their march and occupied a section of
the Trinity Methodist Church. It is reported that the KKK had such a large following in
Lima that it was home to the Black Knights, a local faction of the larger group (McGown

1921).

% The KKK has been described as a reformist organization that was drawn, as a rule, mostly from the less
educated and less disciplined elements of the white Protestant community (Allen 1931). Most Klan
activities focused on defending white, Christian civilization, promoting community activities, enforcing
morality, and combating concentrated economic power among anyone who was not considered white
(Allen 1931). Their main objective was the establishment of white supremacy and was fostered by a strong
belief in the inferiority of blacks, which eventually branched out to include Jews and Catholics (Allen
1931). The Klansmen terrorized public officials in efforts to drive them from office and blacks in general
to prevent them from voting, holding office, and otherwise exercising their political rights (Allen 1931).
When these tactics failed to produce the desired effect, their victims might be flogged, mutilated, or
murdered (Allen 1931). These activities were justified by the Klan as necessary measures in defense of
white supremacy and the inviolability of white womanhood (Allen 1931).
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World War I (WWI) was a military conflict that lasted from August 1914 to
November 1919 (Keylor 1984). It involved many of the countries of Europe as well as
the United States and has been characterized as one of the most violent and destructive
wars in European history (Keylor, 1984). Large economic forces were required for the
war, and both whites and blacks in Lima were drafted to participate in that war. The
experiences of the black soldiers and the effect of their segregated status were telling of
the racial divisions that were prevalent in Lima as well as the nation during that time. A
narrative from SHRP (1978) illustrates how the assigned job duties of black soldiers
during that war impacted their identity formation.

Q: You’re a veteran of WWI?

A: Yes.

Q: Where did your travels in WWI take you?

A: Iwas in a training camp, I think we were there 6 weeks, and they pushed us
on over to France.

Q: Was it an all black unit?

A: Oh yeah, it wasn’t a mixed unit like it is now.

Q: Do you remember the name of your unit?

A: 313.

Q: Now was your commanding officers black?

A: No, they were white.

Q: Were you involved in active fighting then?

A: No, I was in France in 1919 for about a year and a half, then we didn’t
get to go on to the front, we didn’t get to fight or anything, which I was

glad. After the peace was signed, after that was signed, we had the job of
going around picking up the dead that was a bad job to do.
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Q: I heard that they gave that job to the colored troopers. The job of
picking up the dead.

A: Yes, we picked up the dead for about 2 weeks, that was the last job we
had to do, and about 2 weeks we went out, had trucks and mostly colored,
but some whites, and we had to pick up those bodies and put them in those
trucks and bring them back and of course they had boxes, you know, to
put them in. One day we went out to pick up the dead, you know, and the
day we picked up the dead there’d be a bunch digging graves. The next
day the bunch that was digging graves they’d go out and we’d dig.

Q: So then they buried a lot of the right ones there?
A: Oh yeah, practically all them.
They didn’t bring them back to the states?

No.

R 2 R

So how long before you got out of there?

A: About a year and a half or maybe 3 not very long, but it was long
enough for me, but I did that.

Q: So when did you come back to the states?

A: We come back, I think it was in the 20s and I think we come back
around June or July, must of been July on the seas and we spoke about
how the people were doing back home, you know.

Q: What was going on back home?

A: Fourth of July entertainment.

Q: And so, when you came, did you live anywhere other than Lima, after
that, or did you come back to Lima?

A: I came back to Lima.
Analysis of the conversation indicates the subservient and demeaning status of
black soldiers in American military forces during this war. They were commanded by

white officers, but never allowed to fight. Instead, they were relegated to performing the
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dirtiest jobs. In this case, the soldier states that his job was to pick up dead bodies; and

he performed it for one and a half to three years.

The Great Depression’!

The impact of the Great Depression brought difficulty for the majority of people
living in America, and Lima area blacks were no exception. Excerpts from SHRP (1978)
are illustrative of what life was like for blacks living in Lima during those years. The
informant in the first interview is white.

Q: What was the employment situation for blacks that lived in Lima
during the Depression?

A: 1 have lived in Lima since 1935. I was born and raised in St. Mary’s
but moved to Lima to start with the Kroger Company. Back then I had an
opportunity to come to Lima and run the Kroger store, at the time we had
a lot of small stores and that was during the Depression time. Prices were
very reasonable, like cigarettes were 15 cents a pack and coffee was 15
cents a pound and some of the other things we use to sell, bread 3 loaves
for a quarter, that’s how prices were back then. We used to have to sack
up our own brown sugar and our dry beans. We didn’t have self-service
meats, we had to cut everything. During that time my association with the
colored community was just super. 1 had so many friends down there and
it was just because I recognized their needs and the kind of service they
wanted. Itried to be congenial, tried to do what I think to better their
conditions and the whole community. I even saw that I was the first
supermarket to hire a colored checker or cashier, I think better now today.
Also I hired quite a few colored boys as courtesy boys, also I had a
colored meat cutter sometimes and I'll say some stock boys. Kroger
always did give me recognizement about the need to hire colored people
and I think that’s why we were successful in the city of Lima.

%! The Great Depression in the United States has been called the worst and longest economic collapse in the
history of the modern world (McElvaine 1993). It began at the end of 1929 and lasted until the early 1940s
(McElvaine 1993). It was caused by a number of weaknesses in the economy that were characterized by
rapid declines in production of products, the sale of goods, and a severe rise in unemployment rates which
resulted in the closing of businesses and banks, and personal loses in the way of jobs, homes, and savings
(McElvaine 1993).
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The following interviews are from black informants.

Q: How was life in Lima affected by the Depression?

A: Well, we were able to buy a house when we only made $15 a week

and that is the house we’re living in right now, we brought cloth, and fuel

and paid the taxes and a loan and everything off $15.

And another black informant.

Q: Okay, during the Depression, how did it affect you?

A: What do you mean, how did that affect me, it affected me like it did

everybody else, we had a rough time. I would say that it was rough during

the Depression. I don’t know what you would mean by that, how it treated

me or anything like that but I do know that during the Depression that I

was broke. I had worked as a night porter and I started out working at $60

a month, during the Depression and then we started falling off and

everything like that, I was working for $15 a month. They cut me from

$60 to $15 and then the management told me, if I could get something else

why to go get it. That’s all, it was really a rough time for everybody.

These interviews indicate that the job opportunities some blacks in Lima filled
were in the positions of service providers. The Great Depression is also significant to the
history of blacks on a national level because they shifted their support from the
Republican Party to the Democratic Party (Frazier 1957). The shift was largely attributed

to the social programs instituted by the Franklin Roosevelt administration called the New

Deal—a public policy that set up economic relief reform for the masses (Frazier 1957).

The Impact of World War II and the Ohio Steel Foundry Migrations

The leading event to affect blacks in Lima during the 1940s was the impact of

World War Il (WWII)?2. Blacks and whites from Lima served in WWIIL, which led to a

2 WWII began in 1939 and ended in 1945, and has been called the most devastating war in human history
because of the number of lives lost and material destruction (Ziemke 1975). It began as a conflict between
Germany and the rest of Europe but ended in what has been termed a “new world order” dominated by the
United States and the former Soviet Union (Ziemke 1975).
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severe labor shortage at the Ohio Steel Foundry in 1940-1945 (Davis 1978). As an
answer to the labor shortage, Ohio Steel Foundry engaged in a campaign aimed at
recruiting the workers needed from the Lower Delta, an area of the country that includes
the states of Alabama, Georgia, Louisiana, and Mississippi (Davis 1978, Frazier 1957).

The Lower Delta is significant to the development of local African Americans’
collective identity because those who cite it as their place of origin served as field hands
during slavery and moved up to sharecroppers during reconstruction. Life for them as
sharecroppers was bleak at best. The son of one such migrant from the Arkansas area
describes his early life and his subsequent arrival to Lima:

1 was born, as I said, in Arkansas, in Cotton Plant. My family was
sharecroppers. My family would provide the labor to cultivate the land
and the owner would provide the house and the land and whatever else we
needed to live on. Normally, there would be some kind of account
whereby there would be things that you needed in order to live, such as
food. We normally had a garden, and could go out hunting rabbits,
squirrels and wild turkeys, wild hogs, whatever, in order to provide the
food. What we couldn’t provide we had to buy from the owner’s store in
town. That way our money seemed kind of circular, in other words, it
seemed like we could never get out of debt.

Well, anyway, that’s what we did. I was born on this property and lived
there for a period of years. By the age of about 12 or 13 years old, we had
lived on several farms because my dad would be on a farm for a year or
two, have a disagreement with the land owner and we moved on to another
farm and we’d stay for a year or two. Eventually this got to be a bit much
for my father and he and my mother started fighting all the time.

Eventually they separated and my mom moved to town and got a domestic
job working for a white Jewish family. The siblings and myself, we
would pick cotton, not as sharecroppers but as day laborers, and chop
cotton and do other kinds of farm work. After living there for a couple of
years, one of my mother’s best friends, who had moved to Lima with her
husband to work at Ohio Steel for a couple of years, came down one
summer. She said to my mother, look why don’t you come with us to
Lima. We rode back to Lima with very little other than what we could get
in a car, in terms of clothes. In Lima, my mother’s friend provided us with
aroom and my sister and my mom they got jobs in a laundry. It was
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where my mother’s friend worked and she got them a job there.

Eventually we managed to get our own little apartment in Victory Village

and I’ve been in the Southend ever since.

To entice early workers, the Ohio Steel Foundry promised jobs in the foundry,
along with transportation and housing, a practice that was also common at the Ford plant
in Detroit (Farley et al. 2000). It can be considered a type of Northern sharecropping in
which the laborers worked in the foundry, lived in homes provided by the foundry, and
traveled in transportation provided by the foundry. It was a circular process, much the
same as the custom that is reported in Southern sharecropping practices, where the money
earned by the workers never leaves the control of those who are providing the means of
production (Franklin and Moss 1994). The system is set up in such a way that those
whose labor produces the product are indebted to the owners. In all 1,110 workers and
their families were recruited to Lima to work in the Ohio Steel Foundry (Davis 1978).

The influx of a different stream of southern blacks clashed with the earlier stream
of southern blacks that arrived in Lima with the first migrations of the 1840s. The new
group of migrants was housed initially in what were first constructed as trailer camps,
and later were formally constructed into a housing project called Victory Village in the
Southend of Lima (Davis 1978). Prior to this period, the inhabitants of the area hailed,
primarily, from Eastern and Southern Europe (SHRP 1978).

Additionally, the local black population that had been confined to the Westend of
town working as servants, laborers, maids and housekeepers openly expressed their
superiority to the new arrivals which resulted in a division between the two groups (Scott

1993, Davis 1978). The fallout from this split is better illustrated by the interviews that
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were conducted by the SHRP (1978) of both blacks who had been living in the Westend
of Lima prior to the new arrivals and the recent migrants.

Q: Around about the 1940s the blacks started migrating here to work in
the factories?

A: Yeah, it seemed like out at the steel foundry it seemed like they
brought quite a few from Alabama, quite a bunch of them from those
parts, seem like a lot of them came from Florence, when they started here
they were in, they called it, I forget just what they did call it.

Q: Trailer courts.

A: Yeah, trailer camps, there were buildings out there. It brought in a lot
of people because there was a lot of work to do at the steel foundry you
know. During the war they were doing a lot of building, making parts for
different things. It brought in a lot of people, a lot of them still here, some
gone you know.

Another interview:

Q: Okay then, since you are a life long resident, do you remember the
time of the migration and workers from the South came?

A: Yes.

Q: They worked at the steel foundry, can you recall, of course you were
out West then, can you recall meeting any of them or hear any stories
about the development of the Southend?

A: No, I heard some things, mostly things I wouldn’t say or want to say.
The black population in Lima didn’t begin to develop until WWII when
they were called here by the Ohio Steel Foundry to work in the foundry
and to work in the war production. The black folks were brought up from
the south during the war to fill the need for labor and so they reported here
to take care of the needs of our wartime labor in the industry.

Another interview:

Q: Do you remember when Ohio Steel was hiring people from the south
to come to work in Lima?

A: I can remember that, they went down and brought them up here and
put them in Victory Village.

57



Q: Okay, what was Victory Village?

A: Victory Village was something like Grandview Homes was,
Grandview Homes was brung up from Victory Village, it was something
like trailer courts now, and then Victory Village was something like a
trailer court, but the Ohio Steel Foundry took all of them up to a house
then and fed them and they went down to Georgia and Alabama, those
places the hardest.

Another interview:
Q: How long did you say you’ve been in Lima?
A: T’ve been living in Lima about 33 years and 6 months.

Q: Can you give me some background on how you decided to come to
Lima?

A: Well, yes, my husband’s cousin was here, and home on a visit once, he
was telling us how simple it was at the steel foundry to get a job and he
asked him if he wanted to come and he said yes, so he sent him a ticket
and he came up here in ’44 of November.

Q: Now where was home?
A: My home was in Houston, Mississippi.

Q: Did you have a special feeling or reason for leaving to come to a place
where you’ve never been before or had been here?

A: No, I hadn’t been here before. No, no special feeling only difficulty.
In fact, I never lived in the North before, they told me the children had
better opportunities in school then and it might have been a little better
then. We, and all my children in school, we came here to put them in
school.

Q: When you came to Lima, having been living in the area in Mississippi,
what did you think it was going to be, did you have any notions of what it
was going to be like when you came?

A: From my hometown in Mississippi, at the time in the area we lived we
didn’t have any electric works and water works either then. We didn’t
have a sink to wash dishes and things like that. When I first came to Lima
I didn’t think there would be any sink in the house. Ithought comingto a
city, I never been here before, and I just thought every day would be just
perfect.
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Q: Okay, when you first lived here there wasn’t any plumbing so it was
just like what you had left in Mississippi.

A: Right, outside toilet and everything.

Q: Did you think of the North as some kind of “Promised Land”? Like
pouring milk and honey?

A: 1just pictured it as being a place not like no country or town and
places I’ve seen. You can look way out and see houses and things. I
hadn’t pictured seeing those kinds of things. I was 35 years old. I always
went back to Mississippi.

Q: So describe what you did, to us, when you came to Lima. What was
Lima like?

A: What I thought it was about, there was a lot of people that lived in
what they called “The Village” then.

Q: So the village was occupied when you got here?
A: Yes.
Q: People were living there?

A: Yes, people were already living there. I didn’t go to too many places,
I only went to church.

Q: Now were the trailer courts still around when you all came?

A: They say there were still some, but I never lived in one.

Q: Did you remember seeing them at all?

A: Yes, I remember seeing some, there wasn’t as many left as there had

been.

Analysis of the data provides a view of the imagined reality of many blacks
regarding life in the North in which it was depicted as a “Promised Land.” Rumors of
employment availability, superior education, and lack of racial prejudice were dominant

ideologies in the minds of these laborers (Sugrue 1996). Upon arrival, they quickly
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discovered that the image was a fagade. In actuality, life in the North was not much
better or worse than it had been in the South. Additionally, many arriving migrants were
unused to the cooler climates and suffered from poor health (Davis 1978).

Blacks who were already living in Lima resented the southern arrivals and their
positions as laborers in the factory (SHRP 1978). The self-imposed superiority of the
“indigenous folks” would prove to be a factor that would continue to divide the two
groups into the contemporary period. Additionally, the housing that was available to
blacks that were living in the Westend was superior to what was provided for the new
arrivals. Those who had been in the area longer were buying their homes, meaning that
they were becoming property owners, which may explain why they were more vested in
the system (Davis 1978). It also indicates a growing class division among blacks that
revolved around type of work performed and area of town where they lived. The
separation of black residents by perceived difference in class is still quite prevalent

among local area blacks in the contemporary period.

Integration

Occupations in the white-collar sector in Lima were still very limited to area
blacks. The three primary positions in which they were underrepresented were as
teachers, nurses, and trained medical personnel (SQHC 1971). The lack of professional
representation in these occupational sectors is significant because they are crucial
specialized roles. Collective community response to the oversight illustrates how the

locals effectively challenged the practice.
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Regarding teaching, Mrs. Joyce Garret was the first black schoolteacher to be
hired on a full-time basis by Lima’s public school system (SQHC 1971). However,
Garret was not able to get her teaching job in Lima until 1953. In 1953, a bond issue was
set before the people of Lima. Through Lima’s League of Cooperation and Improvement
(LCI), members of the black community stated that they would vote the measure down if
no blacks were hired as teachers (SQHC 1971). The day before the bond issue was voted
on Mrs. Garret was hired as a full-time teacher and became the first black person to be
thus employed (SQHC 1971).

The local black community experienced similar incidents in local hospitals.

Black patients were not integrated with white patients and there was a very low
percentage of trained black professionals in these facilities (SQHC 1971). By 1930, the
color line was broken in the hospitals so that interns and nurses were allowed to obtain
jobs. On May 14, 1936, Dr. Dalton, a prominent black physician, integrated the rooms at
St. Rita’s when he discovered one of his patients out in the hall while there were plenty of
rooms available (SQHC 1971).

In 1948, LCI teamed up with the NAACP in an attempt to get Memorial Hospital
to accept blacks in the hospital’s nurses training class (SQHC 1971). The hospitals
would hire trained nurses but they would not train any. The hospital used the excuse that
they needed two applicants because a black girl was not allowed to room alone, and she
could not room with a white girl (SQHC 1971). In the meantime, Mrs. Fort Ricks was
successful in getting her daughter-in-law, LaJoyce Ricks, admitted to St. Rita’s School of
Nursing without any group assistance. Ricks was the first black nurse to be trained in

Lima (SQHC 1971).
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The local businesses and community organizations practiced segregation. Many
of the area theaters had special sections for blacks. Some of the local eating facilities had
special seating areas for blacks, and some restaurants would not serve them (SQHC
1971). Several of the downtown businesses would not hire blacks. For many years the
Young Men’s Christian Association (YMCA) would only permit them entrance in the Y
on a specific night, so the black community formed their own Hi-Y Clubs (SQHC 1971).
Hi-Y Clubs provided black youth with books, newspapers, recreational activities, and an
opportunity to socialize with their peers. Historical records indicate that segregation

continued in the area as late as the early 1950s (SQHC 1971).

Early Civil Rights Movement®

The early Civil Rights Movement in Lima began at the end of World War II and
was sparked as African American soldiers, returning from European tours, began to
question their segregated existence at home. The thought occurred to them, as many had
given their lives to fight for freedom of people involved in the war, that they were not
free at home. Poetry from one of Lima’s African American soldiers that expresses that
sentiment follows:

In Remembrance—Germany, November 1943
Alone, I lie here in my darkened room,
And naught save stars to share my silent thoughts
Thoughts of dear friends—comrades far away,
Who ne’er again will see the light of day

They gave their lives for things they loved so well
The pains and heartaches—what more we cannot tell

2 The Civil Rights Movement in the United States is characterized as a political, legal, and social struggle
of the attainment of full citizenship rights for blacks to achieve racial equality (Norrell 1985). The
movement began with the Montgomery bus boycott in 1955 and ended with the Voting Rights Act of 1965
(Norrell 1985).
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They died for what—for glory—honor—fame?

Or did they give their lives only for the white man’s own gain?

The sands of time flow on to heal our heartfelt pain

But in the hearts of colored men, the memory will remain

Of how they shed their blood in the bitter hell of war

So that in their hometowns they will remain shackled by the color of their

skin forevermore

Black citizens continued to express concern about social inequalities and formed a
local chapter of the NAACP in 1939. The first president was the Reverend Leroy McGee
from the Fourth Street Baptist Church (SQHC 1971). The organization worked to
improve the condition of Lima’s black community. One of the earliest projects they
decided on was the integration of Schoonover Pool, which had set aside Mondays as the
only day blacks were allowed to swim (SQHC 1971). The details of the event are
instructive of the successful strategies and agency of individuals within larger
organizations towards the structural constraint of segregated recreational facilities.

In 1948, the local NAACP selected Dave Powell, one of Lima’s black residents,
to challenge the segregation rule of Schoonover Pool (SQHC 1971). Details of the
incident are that Powell and two whites approached the entrance to the pool, Powell laid
his money on the desk and ran and jumped into the pool. He was later arrested on a
charge of carrying a concealed weapon. It is believed that one of the men with him had
been chosen to set him up, because when he came out of the pool and sat on the bench,
there was a towel beside him with a gun rolled up in it (SQHC 1971). They put Powell in
jail and would not allow him to post bond, although he had more than enough money on
him (SQHC 1971). They kept him in jail for one day under the pretense of looking for
relatives. He got a lawyer who proved that the gun belonged to relatives of the man who

is believed to have set him up (SQHC 1971). An employee at the pool said the manager
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had the following to say concerning the need for local blacks’ use of the public pool:
“Those niggers don’t need to swim here, they have their own.” (He was referring to the
Bradfield Center pool) (SQHC 1971).

Another example of the agency and integration efforts of the local NAACP
involved the hiring policy of BLH, which was a local construction company (SQHC
1971). In 1950, the management of BLH told Dave Powell, who was the president of the
NAACSP at the time that they would not hire black people because there were already too
many in the area. The NAACP filed charges and the U.S. Government withdrew a two
million dollar contract that they had with BLH (SQHP 1971). The incident proved to
have far reaching consequences resulting in other local businesses reconsidering their
policies pertaining to hiring blacks. Lastly, black people were also beginning to be
allowed in Lima restaurants, and the NAACP was successful, through litigation, in
integrating area theaters (SQHP 1971).

The final significant development was the arrival of the Ford Plant in 1954
(Sugrue 1996). It would become one of the first of the large industries to begin hiring
blacks. This is consistent with Ford’s hiring practices in similar Northern cities (Farley et
al. 2000). The population in Lima during this time was 50,246—12,008 of whom were

black (U.S. Census 1950).

Conclusions
The significance of this time period on the identity formation of AAM is that
there was a shift from independent landownership to dependent subservience to the

European American population there. Limited employment opportunities aided in
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fostering this dependence, coupled with a wave of incoming migrants from the
Mississippi Delta, who were recruited by the Ohio Steel Foundry. Their job positions at
the foundry redefined their role as one of Northern Sharecroppers. In the newly acquired
status, they lived in homes provided by the foundry, worked in the foundry, were
transported to and from work and shopping in buses supplied by the foundry, and
shopped in stores owned by the foundry. The period marked the beginnings of class
divisions, based on type of employment and residence, between African Americans in the
city. The era is also crucial in illustrating the impact of the structural constraint of
segregated housing on the African American population in the city.

Lastly, in the 1950s, Lima witnessed a growth in social and political organizations
among area African Americans. The key political and social movements that affected
identity formation were the Civil Rights Movement, the NAACP, and the Bradfield
Center through which the locals practiced resistance strategies that aided in shaping

community outcomes.
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Chapter 3: Life for Blacks in 1960

When we open our eyes today and look around America we see America, not
through the eyes of someone who has enjoyed the fruits of Americanisms—we see
America through the eyes of someone who has been the victim of Americanism.
We don’t see any American dreams because we 've experienced only the American
nightmare. We haven’t benefited from America’s democracy, we 've only suffered
from America’s hypocrisy and the generation that’s coming up now can see it and
are not afraid to say it. If you go to jail, so what, if you black you were born in
jail—in the North as well as the South. Stop talking about the South; as long as
you 're south of the Canadian border you 're South. Malcolm X**

The Black Church Takes a Stand

The late 1950s and early 1960s were marked by some major undertakings in the
black church that promoted the further development of political and social organizations
in Lima and local area blacks began to challenge the status quo. The majority of these
movements were headed by prominent black ministers from area churches, specifically
St. Paul AME, Fourth Street Baptist Church, and Second Street Baptist Church.

Reverend Thompson, a minister of St. Paul’s AME Church, located in the
Westend, would go into Lima’s historical record for his work in the area of housing for
the black community (SQHP 1971). In 1964, Reverend Thompson arrived from
Pittsburg, Pennsylvania as the new pastor of St. Paul. Upon his arrival, he immediately
became involved in the problem of housing for blacks and in 1969, formed St. Paul’s
Missionary Housing Corporation (SPMHC), to obtain better housing for blacks in Lima
(SQHP 1971). After searching for and either being unable to obtain the land or to get
government approval for a suitable site on which to erect a Rent Subsidy Housing Unit,

they finally located a satisfactory parcel of land on Fourth Street (SQHP 1971).

2 Malcolm X from “The Ballot or the Bullet” speech 1964.
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Problems developed with the proposed 174 unit dwelling because part of the land was in
Lima and part was in Perry Township. Additionally, there was considerable opposition
from Perry Township because of an increase in taxes for roads, sewage, and a fear of
overcrowding of the township’s schools. According to Thompson, this was a ridiculous
claim since the children who would live there were already, for the most part, attending
the township schools (SQHP 1971).

The proposal for a 174 unit dwelling under the Rent Subsidy Program came
before the Lima City Council on January 12, 1970. The Lima Planning Commission
Councilmen voted for it on the first two readings, but against it on the last (SQHP 1971).
When the initial proposal was rejected, SPMHC proposed a new project that consisted of
a 70 unit dwelling for the aged on the same plot of land initially proposed for the Rent
Subsidy Housing Unit (SQHP 1971). This proposal went through the Planning
Commission with no difficulty. Reverend Thompson commented that the reason the first
proposal failed was because it was a rent subsidy program (SQHP 1971).

Fourth Street Baptist Church, located in the Southend of Lima, played a role in
the fight for integration as well. Reverend Edward Broyles, of that church, was
instrumental in the fight for equal representation and employment of blacks in Lima’s
growing business and institutional environments.

Reverend Broyles came to Lima in 1957, and observed and experienced
discrimination in housing, employment and other areas (SQHC 1971). He also observed
that there were no blacks employed in banks, as clerks, or as high school teachers (SQHC
1971). Inthe summer of 1958, he met with the superintendent of schools to discuss the

hiring of black teachers. At this meeting he realized that only a certain kind of black was
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wanted. When a light-skinned black woman, wearing a blond wig, applied she was hired.
Broyles took this as a sign that this was what they were looking for and called it a type of
tokenism in that institution (SQHC 1971).

Additionally, Broyles noticed the ill will that had existed in Lima since the
migrations of the 1940s, between blacks living on the Westend and Southend and devised
a plan that he felt would decrease the animosity between the two sides. His plan was the
formation of a fellowship between the leadership from churches on both sides. He
enlisted the help of the local branch of the NAACP in his quest (SQHC 1971). The plan
failed and Broyles blamed it on the ineffectiveness of the NAACP and advocated for the
installation of a local chapter of the Urban League in the Lima area (SQHC 1971). He
reasoned that the only way blacks could succeed was through participation in politics and
did not see those qualities in the organizations in place in the area at the time (SQHC
1971). This was in direct connection to his growing dissatisfaction with the lack of
community visibility of the local NAACP.

Broyles tried to assume a responsible position in politics by leading the Human
Relations Commission (HRC) in 1960. He was unable to accomplish reform within the
commission because it had no legal power. Instead he tried to push reform by exposing
the problems of Lima through referral and complaints of discrimination to the Ohio Civil
Rights Commission and Fair Housing Commission (SQHC 1971). Broyles tried to have
more power allotted to the HRC but the city’s infrastructure never took action on his
proposal (SQHC 1971). As a reaction to the break down of the HRC, a group formed
which later joined a larger group formally known as the Black Panthers (SQHC 1971).

Broyles explained his involvement with this group as crucial to the formation of a
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nonviolent welfare movement for Lima’s black neighborhoods. Some of the earliest
community centered activities of the Panthers were to raise money to feed and clothe the
needy. Curiously, city officials reacted in a hostile manner to their actions and
aggressively worked to demonize the Panthers, making them a scapegoat for all of
Lima’s racial problems (SQHC 1971). However, their strategy backfired and at the end
of the 1960s, the Panthers inspired local youth to challenge the institutionalized racism of
the area’s police department and school system.

Second Street Baptist Church, located in the Southend of Lima, was also vigorous
in the early struggle for the betterment of life for blacks in the area. In 1965, the leader
of the church was Reverend Woodard (SQHC 1971). Woodard felt that blacks were
discriminated against in churches in Lima, and affirmed that the catholic churches there
were the most open and the others only seemed to welcome blacks for one Sunday, but
not as regular members (SQHC 1971).

In 1967, Woodard started an in-service sensitivity program for Lima area teachers
(SQHC 1971). His program consisted of training youth leaders in the area of racial
harmony at the junior and senior high schools twice a year. He believed that there was a
definite need for this type of training, especially at the senior high school (SQHC 1971).

In 1968, Woodard decided to run for mayor because he felt things were moving
along progressively and that he could “make some very worthwhile changes in the
community” that would keep down the hostile atmosphere (SQHC 1971). Woodard lost
the mayoral race and blamed it on the “close-mindedness” of the city (SQHC 1971).

After losing the election, Woodard became unavailable for any activities other than those
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related to his church. The purpose of this was to show the community how important his
prior involvement had been (SQHC 1971).

In 1971, Woodard probed the employment practices of various corporations in
Lima and discovered that the hiring ratio of black to white was out of proportion to their
numbers in the population (SQHC 1971). He also observed that when blacks did get jobs
they usually were for lesser-paid positions in which they were not interwoven into the
fabric of the total employment picture. He found the prevalence of these factors in
particular corporations, specifically at Superior Coach, Excello, Westinghouse and
Standard Oil (SQHC 1971). The validity of Woodard’s observations remains in question
as he made no attempt to take political or legal action against individual companies or
hiring practices in the city.

Political activity conducted by prominent local ministers is a significant finding.
It illustrates their leadership skills in organizing Lima’s black community by working
within the structure. They exhibited agency by forming organizations, working within
federal guidelines, openly questioning discriminatory hiring practices, and striving to
address the pressing issue of racial unity in local area schools. Lima’s black churches
played active roles in community organization and involvement, making this one of the

most progressive periods in the city’s history.

The Importance and Significance of the Mizpah
In the 1960s, the Mizpah program began to grow as other agencies and
organizations became involved, and in 1965, the administrative procedures were

reorganized (SQHC 1971). Programs, care of the building and budget publicity were
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assumed by a Board of Directors that was accountable to the United Church Women, but
involved the whole church—meaning all members of the congregation (SQHC 1971).
This design attempted to broaden the base of support and enlarge the scope of the
program to include activities for all age groups, and to involve more Mizpah area
residents. The name of the mission was changed to Mizpah Community Center, with its
purpose stated thusly:

To extend Christian love and concerns to residents of the area and to

provide a place where persons may come to have their spiritual,

emotional, and physical needs met through various activities and services.

The first full-time staff person was hired, Anabel Fischer, a Presbyterian
Commissioned Church Worker (SQHC 1971). As Program Coordinator, Fisher
supervised domestic skills classes, the establishment of scout troops, tutoring and study
hall sessions, and many other community involvement projects (SQHC 1971). At this
time the Head Start Program (founded through an Ohio Economic Opportunities [OEO]
block grant) assumed responsibility for the Mizpah kindergarten (SQNC 1971).

The Reverend Loo arrived in Lima in August 1969 as the Director-Informant for
the Mizpah (SQHC 1971). He was an ordained Presbyterian minister who had worked
with black churches, Puerto Rican churches, and community centers in various parts of
the country. Reverend Loo came to the Mizpah to be involved in what he termed the
“frontier situation” (SQHC 1971). His special fields of activity were social change and
poverty.

With Reverend Loo came a philosophy new to the Mizpah that offered the black
community a more balanced relationship with the organization (SQHC 1971). He

brought with him the attitude that the church had to stop being a parent and become a
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helpmate in solving the real problems that existed for blacks living in Lima.
Additionally, his arrival coincided with the area’s racially troubled times.

Reverend Loo encountered the Black Panthers directly after his arrival in Lima
(SQHC 1971). His first introduction to the Panthers involved negotiating with them
regarding the running of the Mizpah Center. The issue was resolved when the Board of
the Mizpah and Reverend Loo decided that all groups not advocating violence were
permitted usage of the center to achieve a better neighborhood and was considered the

center’s first move into the mainstream of the community (SQHC 1971).

The Lima Branch of the Black Panthers’

The Black Panther Party was a national organization that actively voiced the
concerns that blacks in segregated communities were facing. For this reason, it is not
surprising that branches of the Panthers began to form in racially divided cities across the
country in the mid 1960s. Blacks in Lima had long suffered under the auspices of the
institutionalized racism entrenched in the city, so it is understandable that a faction of the
group developed and attracted a following of the youth who were living there.

Who were the Black Panthers in Lima? How were they crucial to the formation

of identity of young blacks living in Lima at the time? James Williamson is generally

* The Black Panther Party has been described as a militant black political organization originally known as
the Black Panther Party for Social Defense (Riddenhour and Jah 1997). It was founded in Oakland,
California by Huey Newton and Bobby Seale in October 1966 (Riddenhour and Jah 1997). Newton
became the party’s defense minister and Seale its” chairman. They advocated black self-defense and
restructuring American society to make it more politically, economically, and socially equal. It was one of
the most militant black organizations, advocating direct confrontation to acts of police brutality that were
surfacing in segregated communities throughout the country. The Panthers’ emphasized community
development and service programs in black neighborhoods and was responsible for the earliest form of
what is now called Headstart—which is a program that promotes education of young black children.
According to Riddenhour and Jah (1997), the National Black Panther Party reached its peak in the mid
1960s and was not effectively disbanded until the late 1980s.

72






given credit for the creation of the local branch of the Panthers and did not believe that
they were radical, but rather a reactionary group reacting to a radical government and
situations (SQHC 1971). Williamson initiated the Panther program in April 1969 in the
Southend of town because he felt the community needed such an organization (SQHC
1971). Initially there was strong neighborhood support for the Panthers and they lasted
for almost a year by receiving contributions (SHRP 1978). The group started out by
serving breakfast to area children in the Mizpah Community Center, and did hands-on
work in the Southend of town by providing public oriented forums that focused on self-
education and activism (SQHC 1971).

The Lima branch of the Back Panthers became politically active after a series of
racial disorders involving the Lima Police Department. The first incident occurred when
Tom Lee, a young black man, was shot by the Lima Police in 1969 (SHRP 1978). The
catalyst that would lead to their demise began with a shooting incident by the Lima
Police in 1970 which involved Christine Ricks, a 42 year old black woman who was shot
and killed as she was walking down to visit her son (who was a member of the Black
Panthers) at the Black Panthers’ Headquarters (SHRP 1978). The Lima News August 5,
1970 reports the occurrence but focuses on the actions of then Lima Mayor, Christian
Morris who imposed a state of civil emergency due to the racial tension resulting from
the police assassination of Ricks. Further, the situation grew so intense that Mayor
Morris involved the federal government and the National Guard who sent troops in to
Lima to guard the Panther Headquarters and restore order amongst area citizens. The
following interview from SHRP (1978) is telling about the racial unrest that resulted from

the killing of Ricks, the goals and organization of the Lima Branch of the Panther Party,
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and the structural forces responsible for the termination of the Panther party there. It is
also illustrative of the agency of local black youth, particularly those who resided in the
Southend. The interview is presented in its entirety, in keeping with the focus of
attending to the voices of the people in the telling of their own history. The informant
was a Panther member during the period.

Q: At what point did you become involved with the Black Panthers?

A: That was in 1970, I was there when they organized and everything but

not as a prospecting Black Panther. You know, they was just friends of

mine and after about 6 months I did join the Panthers. I think they started

in June, it must have been 3 months because I joined in September of that

year.

Q: What was the ideology, the thought that the panthers or the philosophy
they were founding at that time?

A: You mean the Panthers?

Q: Yes, the local Panthers.

A: Oh, the local Panthers, okay, the only thing they had to pattern
themselves after was national headquarters as far as the separate state.
You know socialistic state. I don’t think they were really aware of what
that realzlz meant, you know, but they use to practice the 10-point

system.

Q: Now what is the 10-point system?

% The Ten Point Plan (1966): 1. We want freedom. We want power to determine the destiny of our black
and oppressed communities. 2. We want full employment for our people. 3. We want an end to the
robbery by the capitalists of our black and oppressed communities. 4. We want decent housing, fit for the
shelter of human beings. 5. We want decent education for our people that exposes the true nature of this
decadent American society. We want education that teaches us our true history and our role in the present
day society. 6. We want completely free health care for all black and oppressed people. 7. We want an
immediate end to police brutality and murder of black people, other people of color, all oppressed people
inside the United States. 8. We want an immediate end to all wars of aggression. 9. We want freedom for
all black and oppressed people now held in U.S. federal, state, county, city and military prisons and jails.
We want trials by a jury of peers for all persons charged with so-called crimes under the laws of this
country. 10. We want land, bread, housing, education, clothing, justice, peace and people’s community
control of modern technology (The Ten Point Plan: Black Panther Organization 1966).

74




A: Okay, the 10-point system was the ten things in the Panther Creed that
everyone was working to achieve. It was written on the back of every
Panther newspaper we use to sell.

Q: What kind of activities were the Panthers involved in as far as the
community?

A: They established a free breakfast program at the Mizpah and a score of
other community events.

Q: Can you list them? Free breakfast for whom?

A: For the children, an ongoing program even during school too, where
they would have buses or rides and some walked because at that time they
were having it inside the Mizpah and merchants in the neighborhood
freely, gladly gave up groceries for the drive.

Q: Were they intimidated do you think?

A: No, they freely gave, I’m telling you all they had to do was ask
because it was the Panthers asking, they was glad, you know and we were
aware that there were people who used their weight, because they played
up on people’s fear you know.

Q: At its height how many members would you say the local Panthers
had?

A: Oh, I’d say about 60.
Q: Do you think the larger community was alienated from the Panthers?

A: Yes, do you mean that I feel that’s true, yeah, but I didn’t feel
alienated from it. But it was the press played a big part in that because
automatically, Panthers, you know, they started writing articles that
instilled fear in the people, of the Panthers, you know, because
automatically they were painted as gun killing looters, match carrying,
gasoline totin’, you know, fire burners.

Q: Was that your perception then?

A: See, I knew what a real Panther was cause I had already become aware
of the Oakland-based Panthers and I had read material concerning the
organization and chain of command. I was aware of what the Panthers

were and what they were trying to do.

Q: And what they started?
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A: Right.

Q: Besides this free breakfast program, what were they trying to do
locally?

A: To establish a little power in South Lima, cause South Lima at one
time was considered to be the commons of the city.

Q: The commons?

A: The wrong side of the tracks and they were trying to change that
image. We were all young and inexperienced and all this was new, all this
was new to all of us but they began too soon I think, to work on defensive
evasion of the police in the South end.

Q: What exactly does that mean?

A: Only certain hours of the day they would be in the Southend, you
know for patrol purposes, it wasn’t necessary for them to be there
constantly all day, you know prowling, because some people just didn’t
like the police.

Q: And you think there was an increase of police squad cars prowling, as
you say, during the time of the Panthers.

A: Yes definitely, there were even more curfew arrests at that time too.
They had to have a reason to stop cars.

Q: On several occasions there were racial eruptions in Lima, in the
community at large, generally the ones I could remember were always
instigated by killings by the police. I heard of a young man getting killed,
I think an older man was killed, and in each of these incidents there was a
racial eruption. Were the Panthers around during the first couple of those
riots that we had in Lima or was it only with Mrs. Ricks?

A: Okay, I think the Panthers as a whole were only around for Mrs.
Ricks, but the same people, mostly the same people who were Panthers
was here for the other two killings.

Q: Okay, can you recount for us just a little, the incidents that happened
after Mrs. Ricks was killed by the police. Mrs. Ricks was killed August
5™ 1970 and there were a lot of things that seemed to happen after the
word got out that she was dead and a lot of it seemed to focus around the
Panthers. Can you just give me a brief account of what was happening
right then?
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A: Okay, one of Mrs. Rick’s sons, one of her sons was a Panther and at
the time, what they did, we decided we were going as a whole group to
pay respects to Mrs. Ricks’ family or just a few of us was going to go and
somehow we decided we was all going to go as a group. We were going
to walk, we were walking down the sidewalk and we got to, we weren’t
expecting, we hadn’t intended, we hadn’t started out walking with any
intentions of anything happening. We were walking from Panther’s
Headquarters that was at that time on 4% Street.

Q: That’s 4" and Union?

A: Where “Old Joe’s” store used to be, it’s a motorcycle disco or
something now—yes and we were walking there straight down Main
Street, going to Mrs. Ricks who lived on the 700 block of South Union
and when we got to Main Street there were policemen there. They had the
street barricaded, we couldn’t cross the tracks and they weren’t going to
let us cross the tracks and everybody just kept walking. They threw tear
gas and they started picking them up and throwing them back and they just
kept on walking. Then they got guns and wouldn’t let anyone cross the
tracks. So we started walking down the tracks until we came at the
crossing at Vine Street and they were there trying to push them back.
There was too many of them to push and there wasn’t enough of them
pushing. They had on helmets, the whole bit—I think it was the first time
they got to wear them helmets.

Q: Now was it only the Panthers that was walking or was it people in the
community too?

A: People in the community who had joined us as we were walking.

Q: I’d like to just interject here just for a minute, what was the feeling
that you were having at that time? Were you frightened of the police?
What kind of feeling was going on inside of you?

A: I was excited because I was there you know, and I’ve had the kind of
upbringing that would allow me to be there and it was happening. I
wasn’t scared because I was caught up in the mood of the whole thing that
was happening and that we weren’t going to let them stop us. I wasn’t
afraid at any point, not that particular time. Then when they started firing
tear gas everybody became afraid. They didn’t know it was just tear gas at
all. They fired tear gas and the guy up front picked it up and threw it back
and when they threw it back everybody picked it up and threw it back.

We made it to Mrs. Rick’s home and that Sunday the Panthers had a
memorial service at the Mizpah Center and the funeral was the following
day.
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Q: Was that the first confrontation?

A: That was the first confrontation, the first, see what it was there hadn’t
been a confrontation, you know there wouldn’t have been no
confrontation, well I don’t say there wouldn’t have been no confrontation,
they were trying to find out, there were some people, you know a lot of
sympathizers in the community. Black people and White people with pull
who would get in and out of places that we as citizens couldn’t have the
ability to get in and out of. They kept us informed or they found out
things for us. That’s how we found out that Mrs. Ricks had been shot 5
times and not 2 times like the paper reported. It wasn’t ‘til Paul Jones’
volunteered the information to us, or we wouldn’t have known.

Q: I can remember though, going down myself that afternoon after the
news had come out that she had already been killed going down to the
Panther’s Headquarters and there had already been some incidents of
violence, if you will, that people getting off of work at BLH, that white
people’s cars were you know, rocks or bricks that kind of thing.

A: Yeah, but because there were those people who only knew to lash out
to white people and white people is the ones who had them oppressed and
they knew it. So when they lashed out, it was white people they lashed
out against.

Q: Now, there was also some trouble at night if I recall, because that was
the incident where the squad was brought in.

A: Yeah, that night after the return from Mrs. Ricks it wasn’t that night,
I’m sure it was the following night, but after I returned from the march we
were planning a community play or talent show. At that time there was
this lady who was helping us and she was supplying us with fabric to
make the scenery and the costumes for the Mrs. Black America Pageant,
when they had a man in from Uganda here as one of the judges. We were
going over fabrics or something inside of headquarters and we were the
only three people inside the building. What happened was they were just
out in the parking lot, out in front of headquarters and word had spread
fast because there was an organization here from Dayton, and there was
two from Toledo one was a white organization and one was a Chicano
organization.

Q: They had come in after they heard Mrs. Ricks had been killed?

A: Right, and they were offering their services to the community and they
were at headquarters. They were all standing outside and they were

%7 Paul Jones was one of the first black undertakers and proprietor of Jones Funeral Parlor in Lima (Stark
1993).
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talking outside of headquarters when the police paddy wagon came and
the guard had a megaphone and said, “Citizens of Lima.” They had
established a curfew, streets had to be cleared, everybody in their homes.
They started throwing rocks at the paddy wagon and that’s when they shot
tear gas into the headquarters. There was three of us in there, but it didn’t
reach us because we just went out the back door.

Q: Okay, you were one of those in the headquarters?

A: Right, myself and another lady, a wife, another lady who was a
member of the Panthers and we were coming out, we went out the back.
By the time we came around to the front there was this one person
standing and throwing garbage cans. They were sitting there, out front at
the time, so they could pick them up. They threw them against the paddy
wagon and the force made the paddy wagon rock. Then there was gunfire,
the police, I don’t know who fired first, when they fired that tear gas,
some of the Panthers returned fire.

Q: So the Panthers fired back at the police?

A: Yeah, put a whole bunch of tear gas in the police car and then they left
and when they came back, see they hurried up and got out of there, a car
turned around and got out of there before the paddy wagon got out of
there. I think that was the first year the paddy wagon was used, but
anyway the police came back. The curfew was in effect, it was on the
radio, on the news, “curfew at 6 o’clock.” And anybody, everybody was
being arrested on the street after curfew. The police were moving down
the street and they were firing flares and everything trying to see because
they shot out the light at 4™ and Union, all the streetlights were gone. It
was blacked out man. I was right beside this man with a gun who was
firing. I remember standing there looking at him like Lucas McCain, he
had one of those rifles that just went pow, pow, pow.

Q: Across the street from the Panther Headquarters?

A: Right and because everybody had moved over there because there was
protection on that side of the street. They was firing tear gas and shooting
at the headquarters and he told us to get down. I remember I was afraid
then, you know, because of the gunfire, so when he told us to get down, I
got down. I remember we were laying in the wet grass, we heard shots
cause they were shooting back and forth. They had cleared out and we
were all at this lady’s house and they had cops all around it. People were
coming and going and there were people, it was like a telephone system,
you know from house to house they were calling to tell us where the
police were on foot in back of people’s yards.
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Q: Police were?

A: Yes, and there were people in the community who would call and tell
us what they were doing and where they went and how many there was.

Q: So at that point, at Mrs. Ricks’ death there seemed to be some
solidarity between at least a portion of the community.

A: 1think that’s when it came closest in its relationship.
Q: When they had the fight?

A: Yes, because after that the community became unconscious to a lot of
things—well anyway we were in this house and the next morning there
were curfews at 6 o’clock and the next morning we all left this lady’s
house. We headed for headquarters and there they were, the National
Guard, all laying on top of cars, guns trained on us. They told us to stop
and then they read us an order.

Q: What did the order say?

A: Telling us that headquarters was under siege until an investigation was
over. That didn’t bother me because there wasn’t nothing in there but
newspapers and headquarter trapping posters. We couldn’t go in but they
couldn’t keep us out of the area, at one point the National Guard, their
trick was they had to replace several of them because they couldn’t stand
up under the worries, the verbal abuse that was coming from the people
from the community.

Q: The verbal abuse?

A: Yes, now they didn’t touch none of them but they got awful close,
close enough to breath on them. People was saying stuff and they had to
replace several of them. There was this black dude from the Lima Chapter
of the Guard, he wouldn’t go. He worked for the telephone company and
when they called him he wouldn’t go and there was a big thing about that
too, him not doing what he was supposed to.

Q: Now so was it after this that the Panthers began to decline? What
happened to them then, they are no longer in existence?

A: Okay, see at that time they began harassing people and arresting
people for minimal things, curfew violations, a whole bunch of junk, you
know arresting people and actually having trials, the whole bit. People
lost their jobs and couldn’t get jobs. The FBI came around questioning
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people and made it difficult for them to get jobs, the FBI did they made it
hard for a lot of people to get jobs.

Q: Did you experience that personally?

A: Yes, I did. One day I was at home, this was about a month or so after
Mrs. Ricks got killed and the phone rang. I answered it and it was a man.
I’ve always been cautious how I answer the phone and he asked if he
could speak to me. I said, “who’s calling?” He said, “Excello.” I said,
“Well she’s not here right now could you tell me what you’re calling
about?” He said, “insurance and I want to find out if she works here.” I
had never put in a day at Excello and I knew it was the police. I said,
“well she’s not here right now, you’ll have to call back later.” I just knew
that was them because I had heard other people’s experience.

Q: This was the police or the FBI?

A: FBI, and I went upstairs and I seen them go down the street and turn
around. I was curious so I went downstairs to see what was happening
and they were already in my yard. My brother-in-law was on the porch
telling them I wasn’t home, but I didn’t know at the time cause they asked
me my name and I told them. They said they wanted to talk to me so I
told them to come in. We were in the livin%1 room and he say he wanted to
know where I was on the night of August 5™. 1told him to give me an
idea of what he wanted before we started talking and then I’d know if I
wanted to talk about it or not. He said it didn’t work like that. He said he
wanted to know where I was that night because there was a car with one
headlight on it that had been seen driving away from the Naval Reserve
that was firebombed and somebody had reported seeing me in that car. I
responded that I wasn’t in a car that night—we kept playing each other
and he kept asking me questions and he couldn’t trip me up on anything so
he finally said, okay, “why do you hate the police?”

Q: And this is the FBI?

A: Yes, a detective, a FBI agent, but he said why do you hate police. I
said I don’t. He said you don’t? I said no, see that lamp, I was pointing to
my mom’s lamp, I don’t care nothing about that lamp and I don’t care
nothing about the police, I don’t have time to hate them.

Q: Wow, that’s deep.

A: Yeah, so he said we know you been looking for a job and everything
and he said we might be able to help you find a job. I said, I ain’t looking
for a job. He pulled out this legal pad with every place I’d been looking
for a job, phone numbers, everything. I got mad and that’s when I decided
no, I don’t know nothing, I’ll find a job when I find one, if not this
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couldn’t go on for a lifetime. I told him I didn’t want him to find no job
for me, matter of fact all I wanted him to do was to get out of my
Momma’s and them house before they got home.

Q: So was your interpretation of what he was saying was that they had
been involved somehow in you not getting a job?

A: Exactly, we could help you get a job at the filling station—I told him I
don’t want no job and I didn’t get one for two years.

Q: So you’re saying that all these kind of questions made the Panthers not
be involved?

A: Yes, it forced the key people in the Panther organization to leave town.
Q: For jobs, some of them had families.

A: Yes, they had families to support and there was this one who lost his
job as a result of bad publicity, a smear campaign. He didn’t get his job

back but they had to pay him from the time they had fired him for no
legitimate reason. Until they made that decision they didn’t give him his

job back.

This exchange is illustrative of both structural forces and the agency of the black
community during the period of active involvement of the Black Panther Party in Lima.
The informant clearly describes the early participation and support of the citizenry, both
white and black, of the Panthers by the level of individual surveillance of police activity
and reports by professionals to the Panthers concerning confidential information. This
narrative is also very telling of the tension between the police department and area youth.
It is interesting to note the association of the federal government in the form of the
National Guard and the FBI in the racial unrest, which is characteristic of their
connection to rebellions, and civil unrest in other parts of the Midwest, particularly
Detroit (Fine 1989). The informant clearly indicts the FBI in blocking access to

employment, black balling those who were employed, and sanctioning blacks who
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resisted participation by refusing to serve as protective elements for the government
against their own people. The fact that she mentions the resistance of a local black
National Guardsman indicates strategic planning by members of the black community
who functioned in the formal economy. The issues raised show the critical analytical
skills of the community during the Panthers’ reign and provide a clear example of the
beginnings of unity between black youth in the Westend and Southend of Lima.

The informant is insightful of the role of the media in both instilling fear and
shaping the image of the Panthers as agents of destruction in the mind’s of the local
community. She provides the often-missing explanation of why groups like the Panthers
felt the need to assemble. In the case of the Lima branch, they formed after a series of
shootings by the police of local blacks. The shootings intensified strained relationships
between black citizens and members of the police department. The Panthers not only
garnered support from the local community, but drew in other like-minded support
organizations, which marked the development of unity among people of color based on a
shared sense of inequality at the hands of law enforcement officers.

The structural elements used to constrain black citizens materialized in the form
of curfews, city ordinances, and police surveillance of daily activities. In the end, those
in control attempted to place the blame of the volatile climate on the people themselves.
The FBI agent’s question, specifically, “Why do you hate the police?” illustrates this
point.

The agents demonstrated resistance and intelligence in the following ways:

fighting back; shooting out street lights that made it harder for the police to both see and
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conduct their jobs; and using mental intimidation to wear down the National Guard. All
of which are representative of practical resistance strategies.

Lastly, Black Panther involvement by Lima area black youth was also impacted
by the Vietnam War, which was a military struggle, fought from 1959 to 1975 (Gilbert
2002). The United States became involved in this conflict in 1965 and sent troops off to
fight in this war. Both white and black males from the Lima area were drafted and sent
to this battle. The United States claimed it needed to take part in this war to prevent the
South Vietnamese government from collapsing, but failed to achieve this goal and
Vietnam was reunified under Communist control in 1975 (Gilbert 2002).

Lima’s branch of the Black Panther Party was officially disbanded during the late
fall of 1970 and replaced by the National Coalition to Combat Racism that lasted until

1971 (Davis 1978).

Black Politics in this Era

In 1964, Furl Williams, a black citizen, ran for city council but lost (SQHC 1971).

At that time, he expressed that his loss was due to political apathy in Lima’s black
community. Further, he complained that they were not using all their political strength,
and that they could have a bigger influence on elected officials if more would register to
vote (SQHC 1971). In 1968, community activism, spearheaded largely by politically
aware black youth, resulted in a massive voter registration drive and Williams was
elected Lima’s first black councilman (SHRP 1978).

The drive to vote in council elections could not surpass the structural restraints

built into the local election procedures. For instance, the Board of Education, which had
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always been white, was elected at-large, making it more difficult for minorities to elect
representatives to that body than to city council (SQHC 1971).. When one considers the
importance of the public educational establishment in Lima, both in terms of its budget
and its influence on the thinking of the students, faculty, and the community, it was
imperative for the black community to organize to have its own interests represented on
the school board. Organization in this capacity never occurred and proved to be an
important omission that played out in the racially charged student disruptions of the late

1960s and early 1970s at Lima Senior High School.

Racial Clashes in the Lima Public School Systems

The late 1960s and early 1970s saw the formation of several new organizations
and an increase in trouble in Lima’s public schools. In 1962, a charge of racial
discrimination was brought against the public school system. The case involved twenty-
two black children who were denied admittance to an elementary school that left the
school with an all white attendance (SQHC 1971). The school claimed they refused the
students because they did not live in the district. The children’s parents countered this by
calling the practice segregation and formed an organization called “The Concerned
Parents Group” and boycotted the school (SQHC 1971). Even though they took this
gallant action their children were never admitted and returned to schools in their districts.

1969 marked the beginning of racial conflicts at Lima Senior High School that
commenced with a student walkout one year after the assassination of Martin Luther

King®® and continued with a string of racial incidents in 1970 and 1971(SQHC 1971).

2 Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. was an African American minister, Nobel Prize winner and one of the
principle leaders in the American Civil Rights Movement of the 1960s. His role in that movement was to
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Newspaper accounts indicate that the activities were at times explosive and racially
charged. The following account is taken from a concerned citizen who advocated for
black students at Lima Senior during a disturbance there 